**Dissertationes Forestales 233** 

# Resource selection of moose *Alces alces* at multiple scales – from trees, plantations and home ranges up to landscapes and regions

Ari Nikula

Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public critisism in auditorium 108 (ls B3), Metsätieteiden talo (Viikki campus, Latokartanonkaari 7, Helsinki) on March 24<sup>th</sup> 2017, at 12 o'clock noon.

*Title of dissertation:* Resource selection of moose *Alces alces* at multiple scales – from trees, plantations and home ranges up to landscapes and regions

Author: Ari Nikula

**Dissertationes Forestales 233** 

http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.233 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisor: Prof. Kari Heliövaara Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Pre-examiners: Prof. Pekka Niemelä, Finland

Prof. Lars Edenius, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences SLU, Department of Wildlife, Fish and Environmental Studies, Sweden

Opponent: D.Sc. (For.), Doc. Sauli Härkönen, Finnish Wildlife Agency, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-556-7 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-557-4 (paperback)

Publishers: The Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

*Editorial Office:* Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi/ **Nikula, A.** 2017. Resource selection of moose *Alces alces* at multiple scales – from trees, plantations and home ranges up to landscapes and regions. Dissertationes Forestales 233. 54 p.

http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.233

### ABSTRACT

The Moose is a valuable game animal in Fennoscandia but also the most severe pest in forest plantations. In this thesis, I examined factors that affect the habitat selection of moose and moose damage at multiple scales.

At the plot level, browsing increased with an increasing number of artificially regenerated pines and deciduous trees taller than pines. The damage risk was the highest in plantations with heavy soil preparation.

Moose summer home ranges had more fertile sites than the overall study area. Within summer ranges moose, selected non-pine-dominated habitats and mature forests and avoided human settlements. Winter ranges contained more pine-dominated plantations and other young successional stages, more pine dominated peatland forests and less human settlements and agricultural fields. Within winter ranges, moose used more non-pinedominated plantations and mature forests and less human-inhabited areas than expected. At the home range level, there were no significant differences between sexes, but within home ranges males and females used different habitats during both seasons.

The occurrence of damage in nearby landscape decreased the probability to find a landscape without damage and predicted an increase in the number of damaged plantations. Increased food-cover adjacencies of mature forests and plantations increased damage. An increasing proportion of inhabited areas and the length of connecting roads decreased the number of damage at the landscape sizes of  $1 \text{ km}^2$  and  $5 \text{ km}^2$ .

Moose-damaged stands were concentrated in SW and eastern Lapland in Peräpohja Schist Belt and Lapland's Greenstone Belt with nutrient-rich bedrock. There was less damage in landscapes with an abundant amount of pine-dominated thinning forests. Moose damage plantations were located more on fertile bedrock and soils than undamaged ones. Regenerating Scots pine on fine-grained soils derived from nutrient-rich rocks and naturally occupied by Norway spruce might increase damage risk.

**Keywords:** *Alces alces*, habitat selection, home range, moose, moose damage risk, resource selection.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I made the final decision to put these articles together about a year and a half ago, when we were in the middle of preparing article **IV** about moose damage, bedrock and soil. It nicely complemented two articles that had been published earlier and the one that was also under preparation, which finally became article **III** in this thesis. Thus, this thesis is not a result of a rigorous dissertation project, but I still find that together these articles fulfil an idea that I have had in mind for a thesis – to assess moose resource selection at several levels of scale.

I am grateful to many people that have contributed to this thesis either as co-authors or in any other ways. First of all, I would like to thank prof. Kari Heliövaara, who was my supervisor and whose encouraging messages like "Kyllä se tästä!" (No problem, we will be handle it!) and "Hyvä me!" (So good we are!) always delighted my day. Thank you, Kari, also for managing so many bureaucratic steps that were required to accomplish all the formal studies and finalise the last steps of this dissertation.

My sincerest thanks also to my pre-examinators prof. Pekka Niemelä and prof. Lars Edenius, two highly distinguished researchers of moose ecology. I was really happy to have you as my pre-examinators. I certainly agree with your constructive criticism about some of the additions that you suggested to be made to improve the thesis. Being restricted to the limitations of the data at hand, I hope that I could at least partly assess some of those issues. In the end, the responsibility of the final contents of this thesis remains mine.

I was also happy to get one more distinguished moose researcher, Dr., Doc. Sauli Härkönen, to consent to be my opponent. Thank you, Sauli, for taking the effort! I know your days are full with real-world game problems, but perhaps it is invigorating sometimes to recall issues from the academic world. I hope that at least some of the issues in this thesis give insight to further development to real-world moose management as well.

I am grateful to my co-authors, here in the order of appearance (as they say in movies): Prof. Eero Helle and M.Sc. Samuli Heikkinen in article **II**. Eero, I was always impressed by your jovial but still assertive way of leading the moose-collaring project. And, certainly not least, being patient with our reporting. Samuli, your efforts of calculating so many moose home ranges with the techniques that were available at that time are venerable. Not to mention the pleasant and easy-going co-operation between us during all the steps of writing this article.

My sincerest thanks for smooth co-operation also goes to co-authors in article I: Dr. Mikko Hyppönen, Dr. Ville Hallikainen, Dr. Risto Jalkanen and Dr. Kari Mäkitalo. The moose is perhaps not the worst entomological problem in Finnish forests (just a mutual joke), but it sure inspired many lively discussions about the forest regeneration issues among us. Ville, you deserve a special mention for calculating so many statistical models for this project!

Article **IV** was also a result of excellent co-operation among my co-authors: Dr. Teija Ruuhola, Dr. Juho Matala, M.Sc. Seppo Nevalainen and Mr. Vesa Nivala. None of us being a geologist, there were quite many issues that we had to solve when writing this paper. My special thanks to you, Teija, for sorting out complex issues of geological terms and processes. They were invaluable, as were your other efforts, too!

Article **III** was inspired by an idea to put together large data of moose damage and habitat data that were available. In addition to my co-authors, my thanks go to the staff of the National Forest Inventory that has always been helpful in providing data for our

disposal in many projects: Prof. Erkki Tomppo, Dr. Matti Katila, Dr. Sakari Tuominen, M.Sc. Antti Ihalainen and M.Sc. Jouni Peräsaari.

In addition to my co-authors in this thesis, I have been privileged to have had the opportunity to co-operate with so many talented people in landscape ecological issues of several other species than moose as well. Of Capercaillie people I want to especially mention Dr. Pekka Helle, Prof. Harto Lindén, Dr. Sami Kurki, Dr. Janne Miettinen and Dr. Saija Kuusela. Prof. Mikko Mönkkönen, Dr. Pasi Reunanen and Dr. Eija Hurme introduced me to the interesting world of the Flying squirrel, tiny but still a seemingly powerful species. It has been a pleasure to work with you and to get to know you all!

A special mention goes to Pekka Helle and Vesa Nivala. In the beginning of the 1990s, I met with Pekka, and we started work to put together Wildlife Triangle Data (WTD) and Multi-Source National Forest Inventory Data. This resulted in many pleasant and fruitful co-operations, in addition to WTD. There was quite a lot of pioneer spirit in days of developing all the techniques needed to analyse the data but also to learn science behind those issues. Pekka, I have always liked your relaxed but analytical way of thinking and you certainly deserve to be mentioned as my mentor during those years, but also later on. Vesa, your extraordinary skills in computers and GIS during tens of projects allowed me to concentrate on other tasks and actually enabled many of these projects to be accomplished. Not to mention talks over a pint or two!

The data in articles **I**, **II** and **III** were partly collected and analysed with grants from the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. The compensated moose damage data in articles **III** and **IV** were collected with the kind help of many people in the Forest Centre. Luonnonvarakeskus (Luke) granted me a project to accomplish this thesis.

Finally, my dear wife, D.A. Silja Nikula, and daughters Emma and Sara, your skills in arts and our discussions – many times philosophical – about the many facets of life have been the most important essence of my life. I am grateful to have you in my life!

Rovaniemi February 15th 2017

Ari Nikula

# LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This dissertation is based on the following three published articles (I-II, IV) and one manuscript (III). In the summary, they are referred to using their roman numerals given below. The publications are reprinted here with the kind permission of the publishers.

I Nikula, A., Hallikainen, V., Jalkanen, R., Hyppönen, M. & Mäkitalo, K. 2008. Modelling the factors predisposing Scots pine to moose damage in artificially regenerated sapling stands in Finnish Lapland. Silva Fennica 42(4): 587–603. http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/sf.235

**II** Nikula, A., Heikkinen, S. & Helle, E. 2004. Habitat selection of adult moose *Alces alces* at two spatial scales in central Finland. Wildlife Biology 10: 121–135.

**III** Nikula, A. & Nivala, V., Matala, J., Heliövaara, K. Modelling the effect of habitat composition and roads on the occurrence and amount of moose (*Alces alces*) damage at multiple scales. Manuscript.

**IV** Ruuhola, T., Nikula, A., Nivala, V., Nevalainen, S. & Matala, J. 2016. Effects of bedrock and surficial deposit composition on moose damage in young forest stands in Finnish Lapland. Silva Fennica 50(3) article 1565. http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/sf.1565

## **CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE AUTHORS**

The following table summarizes the major contributions of the authors in articles:

	Ι	II	III	IV
Original idea	MH, RJ, AN,	EH, SH, AN	AN	AN, TR, JM,
	VH, KM			SN
Materials	MH, RJ	SH, AN	AN, VN	AN, TR, SN
Modelling and analysis	VH, AN	AN, SH	AN	TR, AN
Manuscript	AN, VH, RJ,	AN, SH, EH	AN, VN, JM,	TR, AN, JM,
preparation	MH, KM		KH	SN, VN

AN=Ari Nikula, EH=Eero Helle, JM=Juho Matala, KH=Kari Heliövaara, KM=Kari Mäkitalo, MH=Mikko Hyppönen, RJ=Risto Jalkanen, SH=Samuli Heikkinen, SN=Seppo Nevalainen, TR=Teija Ruuhola, VH=Ville Hallikainen, VN=Vesa Nivala

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	6
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE AUTHORS	6
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
1. Introduction	9
1.1. Animal resource selection at multiple scales – theoretical background	9
1.2. Remote sensing and GIS enable large scale studies in ecology	12
1.3. Moose as a study animal	14
1.3.1. History and population development of moose in Fennoscandia	14
1.3.2. Moose damage as a consequence of population growth	15
1.3.3. Moose food items	16
1.3.4. Moose damage pattern in forest plantations	16
1.3.5. Effects of snow on moose	
1.3.6. Moose home ranges	
1.3.7. Factors affecting damage at the plantation level	18
1.3.8. Moose damage factors at local and regional levels	
2. THE AIM OF THE STUDY	
3. MATERIAL AND METHODS	
3.1. Study areas	
3.2. Moose habitat use and damage data	
3.3. Land use and forest data	
3.4. Bedrock, soil, ancient shoreline and topographic data	
3.5. Statistical analysis and modelling	24
4. MAIN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1. Study I	
4.2. Study II	
4.2.1. Summer home ranges	
4.2.2. Winter home ranges	
4.2.3. HR habitat composition between sexes	
4.2.4. HR habitat composition between seasons	
4.3. Study III	
4.4. Study IV	
5. MOOSE RESOURCE SELECTION AT MULTIPLE SCALE	
IMPLICATIONS FOR DAMAGE RISK	
5.1. Region level	
5.2. Home range level	
5.3. Plantation and plant level	
6. FUTURE PROSPECTS	
REFERENCES	40

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1. Animal resource selection at multiple scales – theoretical background

Animals behaviour on the quest for different resources needed to fulfil energetic, as well as other nutritional needs, cover, rest and others, is not random, but based on several criteria (Owen-Smith et al. 2010). Due to temporal changes in the amount and quality of the resources, the criteria may change or have different importance in time periods that vary from diurnal to seasonal changes. The criteria for selecting resources also vary spatially and have different levels at which decisions are made. Knowing the quantitative and qualitative criteria, as well as temporal and spatial variation in these criteria, is the prerequisite for disciplines like wildlife management, conservation biology, pest management and controlling invasive species.

One central question in herbivory is by which criteria do herbivores select their resources in landscapes with patchily distributed resources (Searle et al. 2005). It has been presented that from the herbivores perspective, the landscape can be seen as a collection of resources at different hierarchical levels, and the resources at each level determine which will be used (Senft et al. 1987; Kotliar and Wiens 1990). A theoretical framework for hierarchical resource selection was presented in the hierarchy theory, which postulates that different levels (hierarchies) of selection operate spatially and temporally at different orders of magnitudes such that they can be separated from each other (Allen et al. 1987; O'Neill et al. 1989). Each level contains a limited amount of resources/food, and by relating the amount of resources that have been used to those that were available, it can further be deducted what kind of quantitative and qualitative aggregations of resources are important for some species' ecology and biology at that certain level.

Johnson (1980) introduced the concept of the selection order, which means that the selection processes take place at four levels of hierarchy. The first order selection covers the whole geographic area where a species occurs. The second order selection covers the home range, i.e., the annual area used by an individual animal or group or animals. The third order selection takes place within home ranges and pertains to the usage of different habitat components. The smallest scale in Johnson's (1980) concept of selection orders was the fourth order selection, which includes individual food items such as plants and plant parts.

Several theories that explain mechanisms in resource selection have been developed at the smallest level of selection, i.e., at the level of plants and plant communities. Functional response has remained as a popular theoretical framework in ecological studies that assess an animals response to food resources. The concept of functional response was originally presented by Holling (1959), who first described it for predator-prey situations, but after which, functional response has been extended to herbivores as well (Spalinger and Hobbs 1992). A basic idea in functional response is that animals change their eating rate as a response to a changing amount or quality of food. Depending on the species-prey setup, the response can vary from linear to decelerating or accelerating rates (Holling 1959).

The optimal foraging theory predicts that herbivores should maximize the net rate of energy intake (or other needs) subject to various constraints (Pyke et al. 1977; Belovsky 1981a). Activities that are used for finding food cause costs, and an animal should thus either minimize the time used for searching for food or maximize the net intake of energy in a given time to get an optimal rate of costs and gains. In addition to movement costs

related to the acquisition of food, herbivores have to balance between energy contents and the nutritional quality of the food (Belovsky 1978). Therefore, herbivores have been hypothesized to favour sites with diverse composition of plant species due to the diverse set of nutrients gained from several plant species (Westoby 1974; Belovsky 1981b).

The Marginal Value Theorem (MVT) (Charnov 1976) is one optimality model that predicts the time animals spend foraging in a place, but it also predicts an optimal point when it is profitable to leave the place. The MVT theory extended the resource selection of animals by including two new components to the system: a patch and an optimality in food resource use. From a large herbivore's point of view, a patch means a plant or a collection of plants. An animal should thus consider resources outside the patch in relation to the resources left in a patch. The optimal time to leave for the next patch (giving up time) is when the intake of food drops below the average level of intake rates across all patches (giving up density) (Charnov 1976).

In addition to energy and nutrients plants contain so-called secondary compounds that are toxic to animals (Freeland and Janzen 1974). Secondary compounds are part of a plants defence system against herbivores, and the composition, as well as the amount of secondary compounds, largely varies among plant species, but also due to relative availability of carbon and nutrients available in soil for plants (Bryant et al. 1983). Also, the capability to handle these compounds greatly varies among herbivore species. In addition to direct toxic effects, the metabolism of toxic compounds requires energy which is on the cost-side of the energy budget of the herbivore. Therefore, herbivores should optimize the intake of energy and nutrients in relation to secondary compounds (Freeland and Janzen 1974).

In addition to the energetic and qualitative properties of individual plant species, the properties of other plant species also might affect the food selection of herbivores. The plant association theory predicts that the consumption of some plant species is dependent on the quality of other plant species that accompany it in the same patch (Barbosa et al. 2009). The consumption of low-quality plant species should increase when these are accompanied by high-quality species in the same patch (associational susceptibility), whereas low-quality plant species might protect higher-quality species from consumption (associational resistance). There is some evidence for associational susceptibility (Hjältén et al. 1993; Milligan and Koricheva 2013), but most of the studies have not found support for associational resistance (Danell et al. 1991; Milligan and Koricheva 2013).

In addition to affecting the eating rate, changes in the amount and quality of food can affect animals behaviour at several scales, ranging from single plants and parts of plants to plant communities (Shipley and Spalinger 1995) to landscapes and regions (Senft et al. 1987). In addition to the internal structure of the patch, the spatial arrangement of the surrounding patches also affects an animal's decision to keep on feeding or moving to other patches (Searle et al. 2005). So far, most studies have been made at the plant level or at the level of plant communities, and quantitative results of functional response at levels larger than plant association are virtually lacking (Owen-Smith et al. 2010). However, the fact that large herbivores in particular change their environments in response to the changes in food resources or other conditions indicates that herbivores gain some benefit in doing so (Owen-Smith et al. 2010).

The problem of scale has received growing attention in ecological studies since 1980s (Wiens 1989; Levin 1992; Schneider 2001). One main message in the discussion of scale was that the scale should be assessed according to the question at hand. Scale is generally defined by two components: grain and extent, and they both affect our ability to make inferences about the phenomena in question (Turner et al. 1989; Wiens 1989). Grain refers

to the smallest resolvable unit of study, whereas extent is the area over which the study is made. Although, hierarchical levels in hierarchy theory (Allen et al. 1987) implicitly include the idea of different spatial and temporal scales, the terms "level" and "scale" are not synonymous. The term "level" refers to the relative ordering of a system's organization, whereas the scale refers to the resolution at which patterns are measured, perceived or represented (Turner et al. 1989). When applied to herbivores, the collection of resources can be measured by several scales (including varying grain sizes), but the levels of selection are determined by the selection processes at different levels of hierarchies (Johnson 1980).

In practice, it is not possible to separate different levels of hierarchies in ecosystems only by their physical features without defining processes which are typical to each level and which are different in their frequency or the rate of change at each level (Turner et al. 1989). Senft et al. (1987) presented that the typical levels of hierarchy for large herbivores are region, landscape and plant communities. Processes that are linked to the region level are, e.g., migration, home range selection and nomadism, as a response to the change of forage availability. At the landscape level, herbivores select their ranges by preference to plant communities or other landscape components that include qualitatively and quantitatively enough preferred food. At the level of plant communities, herbivores select plant species that, e.g., maximize the amount of food and nutrients or minimize toxic components (Senft et al. 1987).

Analytically, in order for one to be able to separate different processes at different levels of hierarchy from each other, it is a prerequisite that the amount of available food and other resources at each level can be measured as well as the use of these resources by herbivores at the same levels. In analysing the resource use of animals, the central concepts are the usage and availability of resources (Johnson 1980; Thomas and Taylor 2006). If the usage of resources is disproportional to their availability, the usage is said to be selective. Further, if the availability is made equal among resources, analytically or, e.g., by cafeteria experiments, it is analytically possible to draw conclusions about the order of preference among resources (Johnson 1980; Thomas and Taylor 2006). In order for one to be able to measure the availability and the use of resources, they have to first be defined in terms of quality and quantity, and after that, the geographic area from which these resources are measured should be delineated with criteria that have been derived from the behaviour of the species (Thomas and Taylor 2006).

Generally, when talking about scale, ecologists usually refer to the geographic extent of the study area. However, from the point of view of many ecological processes and studies regarding them, it is important to also define the grain size in relation to the process because it sets the limit for the smallest measurable targets (Turner et al. 1989; Wiens 1989). For example, in animal ecological studies, grain size should be similar to the size of units that animals base their decisions on resource use. When the grain size increases, one measurable unit includes more environmental variation, and it can mask units that are important from the animals decision-making point of view. As a result, important information that explains the process is lost (Wiens 1989). Also, the size of the study area should be adjusted according to the process in question. The size of the area where one individual makes a decision about resource use is probably different from what is needed, when studying population-level phenomena, like resource-dependent variation in population size (Senft et al. 1987; Wiens 1989).

According to the definition, resource is any biotic or abiotic factor directly used by an organism (Hall et al. 1997; Morrison and Hall 2002). From any organism's point of view, an important point is that to be a resource, it must actually be used by an organism to gain

some benefit. Resources should also be defined in a way that they can be found within the target area and be measurable (Morrison and Hall 2002). The most important resources for herbivores are food, cover and water.

Habitat is one of the basic concepts in theoretical and applied research in ecology and population biology. However, despite the habitat having a central role in studies that aim to understand, e.g., species distribution in relation to its environment, there is no unanimous definition for habitat (Morrison and Hall 2002). According to Morrison and Hall (2002), the term "habitat" is a concept and cannot be tested as such. However, there are some characteristics that can be linked to habitat. According to Morrison and Hall (2002), habitat "has spatial extent that is determined during a stated time period <...> the various components of habitats – cover, food, water, and such – are contained within this area". Thus, the definition of habitat can be expressed as the physical space within which the animal lives, and the abiotic and biotic entities (e.g., resources) that exist in that space (Morrison and Hall 2002).

However, for practical reasons, habitat has often been defined as a bounded space and synonymous to "vegetation category" or "biotope" (Dennis et al. 2003). In landscape ecology, the term patch is used in a similar context and refers to a relatively homogenous area that differs from its surroundings at the scale of landscape mosaic (Forman 1997). In reality, however, patches are seldom discrete and homogenous entities embedded in a homogenous matrix, but there is variation in both the internal structure of the patch and the level of the environment that contains the patch (Kotliar and Wiens 1990). Thus, patchiness in landscapes occurs at many scales that form a hierarchical patch structure (Kotliar and Wiens 1990). From the point of view of an animal, the smallest scale can be defined as the smallest perceivable structure of the environment, within which there is no variation that animals respond to. An upper limit, in turn, is defined by the extent of an animal's annual home range. Both the smallest scale and the extent are organism-dependent, as are the number of levels in a nested patch hierarchy that animals respond to (Kotliar and Wiens 1990). From the perspective of an herbivore, a patch can be defined as a collection of resources (e.g., food) at a given scale, the pattern of which does not change abruptly when an animal moves within the patch (Kotliar and Wiens 1990).

In this thesis and in  $\mathbf{II} - \mathbf{III}$ , the term "habitat" refers to different types of habitats (in terms of Morrison and Hall's (2002) components of habitats), i.e., different types of forests, peatlands, agricultural fields, inhabited areas and waters. From the point of view of Land Use and Cover (LUC) data used in **II-III**, a habitat is equivalent to LUC class that has been defined according to criteria in Table 1 in **II** and Table 1 in **III**.

### 1.2. Remote sensing and GIS enable large scale studies in ecology

A prerequisite for extending resource selection studies from the plant and plot level up to animal's home range, landscape and finally to region-wise studies are data that cover large areas. At the same time, these data have to include information that is relevant from the point of view of the study species. These data also have to provide qualitatively and quantitatively detailed information that can be linked to the resource selection process. The development of technology from the beginning of 1970s has enabled the analysis of large areas in ecological studies. The most important development has been made in remote sensing, especially satellite image-based mapping of natural resources (Campbell 2002) and the development of geographic information systems, GIS (Star and Estes 1990). Also, an

evolvement of landscape ecology increased the understanding of the metrics needed to measure the structure of the landscape that explain different processes like interactions of animals with landscapes (Naveh and Lieberman 1984; Wiens et al. 1993; Wiens 1995).

Remote sensing is the science of deriving information about the earth's land and water areas from images acquired from a distance (Campbell 2002). The launch of LANDSAT 1 in 1972 and the availability of data collected by it, especially in digital form, increased the interest to develop techniques to handle and analyse remote sensing data from the point of view of natural resource mapping (Campbell 2002). As a part of it, the usability of the satellite image data in forest inventory was studied soon after the launch of the first natural resource satellites (Iverson et al. 1989).

Also in Finland and Fennoscandia, the potential of satellite images in forest inventory was intensively studied from the beginning of 1970s (Kuusela and Poso 1975; Jaakkola et al. 1988), and several projects analysed the usability of different types of satellite images as well as algorhitms to classify images (Häme 1984ab; Jaakkola et al. 1988). The resolution, in terms of both spectral and spatial resolution, of the first satellite images was rather low, allowing only coarse classification of forest resources. However, an overall conclusion of the studies was that satellite images can be used to monitor changes in forests, to classify land use and cover as a part of forest inventory, as a part of stratified forest inventory and in estimating the area of different types of forests (Jaakkola et al. 1988).

In Finland, the satellite image-based forest inventory that aimed to cover the whole country was operationalized as part of National Forest Inventory (NFI) in the end of 1980s, and the first so-called Multi-Source National Forest Inventory (MS-NFI) was accomplished in the beginning of 1990s (Tomppo 1991, Tomppo et al. 2008). In addition to satellite images, MS-NFI utlizes NFI field plots and digital maps of fields, peatlands, roads, buildings and inhabited areas to separate forests from non-forest land (Tomppo et al. 2008). The estimation of forest parameters is based in k-nn algorithm and the method can in principle produce estimates of all the variables that have been measured in field plots. As a result, estimates of, e.g., volume by tree species, forest age, development class and site type are produced for every pixel corresponding  $25 \times 25$  m on the ground (Tomppo et al. 2008).

From 1980s, the development of GIS enabled the handling of spatial data covering large areas (Johnson 1990). There are many definitions of GIS, but, in general, GIS consist of computer software and hardware that can be used to store, handle, combine, analyse and produce outputs of geographically located data (Longley et al. 2001). An important feature of GIS is that it allows for combining data from different sources and the production of new attributes for landscape elements on the basis of multiple criteria. The resulting landscape patterns can then be analysed from the point of view of the study in question. Different types of proximity analysis in GIS also allow for flexible scaling according to study questions. Together, these features make GIS an efficient tool for ecological studies.

In the mid-1980s, a higher resolution was obtained with new sensors in Landsat TM and Spot XS, allowing the surface of the earth to be recorded with the spatial resolution of 10-30 m (Campbell 2002). Along with the increased resolution, an applicability of satellite images to ecological study types other than forest inventory were also studied together with GIS and, as an example, by the mid-1990s, hundreds of habitat models had been developed in northern America (Gray et al. 1996). Satellite images were also found feasible also for producing vegetation maps (Kalliola and Syrjänen 1991). In Finland, GIS and remote sensing data were utilized in wildlife habitat studies from the beginning of 1990s, when the habitat requirements of game species were studied with the aid of located wildlife triangle data (Lindén et al. 1996) and satellite image-based forest data (Helle and Nikula 1995,

Helle and Nikula 1996; Kurki 1997). The first results indicated that GIS and remote sensing data can be used to quantitatively analyse the effects of landscape structure on the habitat selection of animals in boreal forest environments (Helle and Nikula 1996). At the same time, GIS-based analysis was also extended to study other forest-dwelling animals than game species (Virtanen et al. 1996; Mönkkönen et al. 1997; Virtanen et al. 1998).

### 1.3. Moose as a study animal

### 1.3.1. History and population development of moose in Fennoscandia

According to archaeological findings, the moose (*Alces alces*, L.) has been part of Fennoscandian nature soon after the retreat of the ice cover, 8000-9000 years BP (Ukkonen 1993). The importance of moose to human populations has been great as a valuable game animal, but also because of its cultural value. The number of moose has varied greatly during times, but overall, moose population has been estimated to be rather low, probably some few thousands until the mid-1900s (Nygrén 1987). After WWII, the moose population started to grow in Finland, but by the end of 1960s, the population was estimated to be too low to be hunted, so hunting was prohibited in 1969-1971 (Nygrén 1987).

The rapid growth of the moose population in all Fennoscandian countries occurred in the beginning of 1970s (Cederlund and Markgren 1987; Nygrén 1987; Østgård 1987) and the population has been relatively high since then. In Finland, moose population increased from the beginning of 1970s, when the moose winter population after hunting was estimated to be about 20,000, to an overwintering population of about 110,000 in the year 1983 (Nygrén 1987). Due to a high number of damage to forestry and agriculture and an increased number of moose-vehicle collisions, moose population was actively reduced until the mid-1990s (Nygrén 2009). After then, the population started to grow again, the highest number of moose so far, more than 140,000, was estimated to exist in the year 2001. From the year 2001 onward, the moose population has gradually decreased to about 70,000-80,000 moose after hunting (source http://www.rktl.fi/riista/hirvielaimet/hirvi/). Also, in Sweden the moose population started to grow substantially in 1970s, and in the beginning of 1980s, overwintering population was estimated to be about 300,000 moose (Cederlund and Markgren 1987). A similar development was seen in Norway, where the overwintering population was estimated to be 80,000-90,000 moose in the beginning of 1980s (Østgård 1987).

The reasons behind the population increase have been attributed to several types of changes in land use, like forestry, raising livestock and agriculture (Ahlén 1975). Changes caused by forestry and adopted hunting practices in particular have been attributed as the main reasons behind the growth of moose population (Cederlund and Markgren 1987; Lavsund 1987; Cederlund and Bergström 1996). Clear-cutting and regeneration using coniferous trees, mostly Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), became the prevailing methods in forestry since the end of the 1940s. From the point of view of forestry, an optimal age-class distribution of forests has a large proportion of young successional stages, i.e. plantations. These have been hypothesized to provide, in practice, unlimited amount of food for moose, especially in winter (Cederlund and Bergström 1996). Also, adult and calf moose hunting quotas were defined since mid-1970s, and it was recommended that the unproductive parts of the population, like the young and males, should be hunted more than the others. This

again increased the productivity of the moose population (Nygrén 1987; Nygrén and Pesonen 1993).

#### 1.3.2. Moose damage as a consequence of population growth

Although the moose population was rather small until 1970s, damage caused by moose to forests was discussed by foresters and hunters already in the late 1800s (Ehrström 1888; Kangas 1949). In the mid-1930s, moose damage was also discussed in Finnish parliament, and it was suggested that moose damage should be compensated to land owners (Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö 1960). Because there was no information on the importance of moose damage to forestry, Metsähallitus conducted a survey about damage in the late 1930s. According to the results, most foresters regarded moose damage as a minor problem, and there was no need for compensation to forest owners (Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö 1960). One of the recommendations was also that moose damage should be studied on a more scientific basis. As a consequence, the first scientific study was funded by the state and a report about the occurrence and types of damage was published in 1949 (Kangas 1949).

By the mid-1950s, the moose population had increased in Finland, and damage was discussed in parliament again. It was suggested that the moose population should be reduced and legislative actions to reduce damage should be taken. Due to the lack of reliable information on moose damage, a special committee was established in 1956 to "carry out an investigation <...> to cover only damage caused to forests by the increased the measures for the prevention of the moose population and damage." (Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö 1960). According to the survey conducted by the committee, moose damage was a problem in pine-dominated young stands especially, but damage was also found in other tree species-dominated young stands. The proportion of forest holdings having damage was 5.6%, and thus, damage was judged to be fairly low. However, the committee stated that in individual cases, moose damage could be significant for forest owners and recommended reforestation to be compensated by the state. The compensation system came into force in the year 1963 (Löyttyniemi and Lääperi 1988). The committee also recommended that long-term plots should be established in forest plantations to gather information about the development of browsed trees (Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö 1960). In Sweden, early discussions on moose damage happened in tandem with Finland, and the first report covering the description of damage and the results of moose damage inventory was published in 1958 (Westman 1958).

The first systematic inventory of moose damage that covered the entirety of Finland was made in connection with the 3<sup>rd</sup> National Forest Inventory in 1951-1953 (Löyttyniemi 1982). Moose browsing was recorded in about 150,000 ha of pine-dominated plantations, of which about 13,000 ha were classified as actual moose damage. Next time, detailed information of moose damage was recorded in the 8<sup>th</sup> NFI in the years 1986-1994 (Tomppo and Joensuu 2003). Moose damage was recorded on about 2.3% of forest land, which corresponded to about 446,000 ha (Tomppo et al. 2001). According to the 9<sup>th</sup> NFI (1996-2003), moose damage was recorded in 653,000 ha which corresponds to 3.2% forest land. The 10<sup>th</sup> NFI (2004-2008) showed that moose damage had again increased, and damage was recorded in about 741,000 ha, corresponding to about 19% of all plantations (Korhonen et al. 2010). In pine-dominated plantations, moose damage was recorded in 24% of plantations, out of which three per cent were classified as severe or having led to the total destruction of the plantation. In Sweden, moose damage was found in 12-15% of pine

plantations in 2004-2013, and the damage was classified as severe in 3% of the plantations (Swedish Statistical Yearbook... 2013).

### 1.3.3. Moose food items

The moose has traditionally been regarded as a generalist browser that can utilise a diverse set of food plants (Belovsky 1981b). On the basis of moose diet, Shipley (2010) defined the moose to be on the continuum between the facultative specialist and facultative generalist because the moose diet consists mainly of one species, e.g., during winter time, but which can expand to cover several species according to the availability of plants. In summer, moose utilise tens of species of plants, but in winter, a moose's diet consists mainly of woody species (Cederlund et al. 1980). Dwarf shrubs, blueberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea* L.) make a substantial proportion of moose autumn diet before the snow cover becomes too thick (Cederlund et al. 1980). A shift from ground layer plant species to woody species starts when the depth of snow is about 6-30 cm, and moose consume only woody species when the depth of snow exceeds 30 cm (Cederlund et al. 1980). In winter, a moose's diet consists mostly of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), but also birches (*Betula pendula* L and *B. pubescens* L.), willows (*Salix* spp.), aspen (*Populus tremula* L.), juniper (*Juniperus communis*, L.) and rowan (*Sorbus aucuparia* L.) are regularly consumed.

Although, in terms of quantity, moose consume mostly Scots pine in winter, pine is only of median species in the preference list of moose (Månsson et al. 2007). When the availability of different species is accounted for, the most preferred species are in the order of preference: rowan, aspen and willows, after which come birches, Scots pine, juniper and Norway spruce (Månsson et al. 2007). However, in Fennoscandia moose consume only a small amount of Norway spruce (Faber and Pehrson 2000). Although, deciduous species are more preferred than Scots pine, due to the high amount of pines consumed in winter, browsing damage is the most severe for pine (Bergström and Hjeljord 1987).

### 1.3.4. Moose damage pattern in forest plantations

Moose cause damage to trees by breaking leader shoots and the main stem, by browsing lateral shoots and by stripping bark (Bergqvist et al. 2001). Most of the damage occurs in winter, but summer time damage can also be substantial (Bergqvist et al. 2013). The same trees often become browsed in subsequent years, which indicates that moose favour some individual trees over others (Löyttyniemi 1985; Bergqvist et al. 2003). As a consequence of browsing, smaller plants especially can die, but browsing for the most part causes defects in the tree stem and reduces growth or impairs the technical quality of saw wood (Siipilehto and Heikkilä 2005; Wallgren et al. 2014).

### 1.3.5. Effects of snow on moose

In boreal regions snow covers the ground and part of the vegetation for a substantial time of the year, which has several implications for moose. Snow cover impedes movement, and thus, causes extra energy consumption compared with no-snow conditions (Coady 1974). With high legs and a chest height of 80-105 cm, the moose is well-adapted to moving in snow, and movements are only severely restricted when snow depth exceeds 70-90 cm (Kelsall 1969). In deep snow cover periods, moose tend to aggregate and follow the same

tracks probably to lower energy costs (Peek et al. 1974). In addition to snow depth, the quality of snow in terms of density and hardness can also affect the trail-following behaviour of moose (Lundmark and Ball 2008).

Snow cover also affects the timing of migrations between seasonal ranges (LeResche 1974). In Fennoscandia, moose start migration from summer-fall ranges to winter ranges when the snow depth is 42 cm on the average and about one month after the first snow (Sandegren et al. 1985). In spring, the migration to the summer ranges starts when the snow depth is 6 cm on the average, but the timing in relation to snow melt varies between years (Sandegren et al. 1985). Snow cover also causes a shift in moose diet from ground layer vegetation to a woody plant diet when snow depth exceeds about 30 cm (Cederlund et al. 1980). In addition to causing a shift in seasonal ranges, snow has also been shown to affect moose within home range habitat use (Ball et al. 2001).

### 1.3.6. Moose home ranges

The concept of the home range was first defined by Burt (1943), who defined it as an '... area traversed by the individual in its normal activities of food gathering, mating, and caring for young.' Home ranges can shift during the life time of an individual and migratory animals quite regularly shift from summer home ranges to winter home ranges and back. It is also typical that the size of the home range can vary due to several reasons, like sex and season (Burt 1943), but also due to the varying availability and the depletion of resources (van Beest et al. 2011).

First telemetry studies of moose were conducted in Northern America in the beginning of the 1970s (Van Ballenberghe and Peek 1971). The studies gave more insight to the home range behaviour, movements and habitat use of moose. In Fennoscandia, the first results of moose telemetry studies were published in the 1980s (Sandegren et al. 1985; Cederlund et al. 1987; Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Sweanor and Sandegren 1988). Moose often have separate seasonal home ranges with winter and summer ranges being the most distinct from each other. The distance between summer and winter ranges varies from some few kilometres up to some tens of kilometres (Sandegren et al. 1982; Sweanor and Sandegren 1988). However, for some moose, summer and winter ranges overlap at least partly or are adjacent (Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Sweanor and Sandegren 1988; Lundmark and Ball 2008; Ball et al. 2001), which means that part of the population does not have seasonal migrations (Dingle and Drake 2007).

According to telemetry studies, the size of the female home ranges is 500-740 ha (Cederlund et al. 1987; Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Cederlund and Sand 1994), and for males – 750-1800 ha (Cederlund and Sand 1994; Olsson et al. 2011). Cederlund and Okarma (1988) reported that moose summer ranges are larger than winter ranges, but no all studies have found difference in home range size between seasons (Cederlund and Sand 1994; Olsson et al. 2011). Also, the results of the difference between males and females in the size of the home range vary: Cederlund and Sand (1994) and van Beest et al. (2011), reported that male home ranges are larger in both summer and winter, but Sweanor and Sandegren (1989) did not find difference between the sexes in winter. Extrinsic factors, like climate and snow depth (Sweanor and Sandegren 1989; van Beest et al. 2011), but also intrinsic factors, like the reproductive status, have been shown to affect home range size (van Beest et al 2011), which might explain discrepancies among studies. Also, the method that is used for calculating the size of the home range strongly influences the results

(Lawson and Rodgers 1997). However, telemetry studies indicate that the size of the home ranges varies from some few hundreds of hectares up to some thousands of hectares.

Moose home range selection, i.e., how moose select their home ranges (Johnson's second order selection) has only been studied in a few studies in Fennoscandia (Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Ball et al. 2001; Van Beest et al. 2010; Olsson et al. 2011) and most of the studies have been based on within-home-range habitat selection or compared moose habitat use to overall landscapes. Ball et al. (2001) did not find significant differences between the home range habitat composition and overall landscape, but according to Cederlund and Okarma (1988) and Olsson et al. (2011), home ranges included more coniferous forests, peatlands and clear-cuts than what could be expected. Within home ranges, moose have been found to favour regeneration areas, young successional stages and old forests and to use less than expected agricultural fields and waters (Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Ball et al. 2001; Olsson et al. 2011). Overall, moose respond to variation in food quantity, quality and depletion in home range selection as well as in within-home-range habitat selection (Van Beest et al. 2010).

### 1.3.7. Factors affecting damage at the plantation level

Most moose damage studies have been based on the effects of plantation level factors on damage, probably because silvicultural actions have been seen as a potential way to reduce damage. At the level of a plantation, at least tree species mixture (Heikkilä 1990; Heikkilä 1991; Heikkilä and Härkönen 1996; Härkönen 1998; Härkönen et al. 1998; Kullberg and Bergström 2001; Härkönen et al. 2008; Milligan and Koricheva 2013) and the density of trees (Lundberg et al. 1990; Heikkilä 1991; Lyly and Saksa 1992; Ball and Dahlgren 2002) have been found to partly explain damage. Other factors at the plantation level that have been associated with damage are the fertility of the site (Niemelä and Danell 1988; Danell et al. 1991; Ball and Dahlgren 2002; Bergqvist et al. 2014) and fertilization (Löyttyniemi 1981; Edenius 1993; Ball et al. 2000). Also, the height of trees, as well as the spatial arrangement of trees has been linked to damage (Heikkilä 1990; Härkönen 1998; Jalkanen 2001; Härkönen et al. 2008).

### 1.3.8. Moose damage factors at local and regional levels

The effect of local and regional factors on moose browsing have indicated that moose consumption of forage is proportional to the occurrence of different plant species and varies accordingly from one region to another (Hörnberg 2001a). At the regional level, the amount of moose damage has been shown to vary according to variations in moose population, but the amount of damage is not directly linked to population size (Hörnberg 2001b; Månsson 2009). The vicinity of roads and inhabited areas reportedly decreased damage (Repo and Löyttyniemi 1985; Heikkilä 1991), although Ball and Dahlgren (2002) found that moose damage can also accumulate close to highways due to their barrier effect on moose migration.

### 2. THE AIM OF THE STUDY

A plethora of studies indicates that there are several factors that affect the resource selection of moose as well as damage caused thereof. Resource selection occurs at several scales and the factors that affect selection might vary between scales. Understanding these factors and the scales that they are linked to is one prerequisite for moose management. Furthermore, because moose browsing causes damage in forest tree plantations, understanding the factors behind resource selection can also be of help in integrated moose damage management. In this thesis, I studied these factors, starting from the plot level, representing individual trees and groups of trees up to plantations, the home ranges of moose and, finally, up to levels of landscapes and regions. This thesis consists of four studies numbered I-IV in roman numerals.

In study **I**, moose damage risk was modelled with factors that were measured at the levels of plot and forest stand. Tree-species composition and other stand parameters routinely recorded in forestry were used in the modelling. Regional variables, like temperature sum and moose density, were calculated for each plantation and used as stand-level variables. Finally, by using the combination of variables that had the best explanatory power, model predictions of the most powerful variables were calculated and illustrated for different levels of model variables. The questions specifically asked in **I** were:

- 1) What factors explain and predict the browsing of Scots pines at
  - a) The plot level?
  - b) The stand level?
- 2) What are the quantitative predictions of moose browsing probability as a function of the main variables in models?

In study **II**, located data from radio collared moose were analysed with satellite imagebased forest and land cover data and compositional analysis. The habitat composition of home ranges was first compared with overall landscape, and in the second phase, habitat compositions around locations were compared with the habitat composition of home ranges. All the analyses were made for all sex (female, male) and season (winter, summer) combinations. Finally, habitat compositions of home ranges, as well as locations, were compared between sexes and seasons. The questions specifically asked in **II** were:

- 1. Are there differences in habitat selection between sexes within seasons at:
  - a) The home range level?
  - b) Within-home range level?
  - c) The level of locations?
- 2. Are there differences in habitat selection within sexes between seasons at:
  - d) The home range level?
  - e) Within-home range level?
  - f) The level of locations?

In study III, the number and occurrence of moose damage was modelled as a function of habitat composition, road length and man-made land use and cover types for  $1 \text{ km}^2$ ,  $25 \text{ km}^2$  and  $100 \text{ km}^2$  landscapes. The sizes of the landscapes refer to the within-home range, home range and landscape-level habitat selection, respectively. Separate models for the occurrence of damage and for the number of damage were developed for two study areas and for all landscape sizes. Marginal effects of model variables were studied by calculating

the predicted number of damage as a function of different proportions of habitats that were significant predictors in models. The questions specifically asked in **III** were:

- 1. What habitat types and man-made features explain a) the number and b) the occurrence of moose damage at 1 km<sup>2</sup>, 25 km<sup>2</sup> and 100 km<sup>2</sup> landscape sizes?
- 2. Are there differences between Ostrobothnia and Lapland in variables that were significant in models?
- 3. How do different levels of co-variates in models affect the predicted number of damage at each scale studied?

In study **IV**, the occurrence of moose damage in relation to site type, soil characteristics, bedrock and topography were analysed. Compensated moose damage data for private forest owners was used as a response and undamaged stands in National Forest Inventories from years 1986-2008 served as control data. Bedrock and soil data were derived from Digital databases of the Geological Survey of Finland and topography data were derived from National Land Survey (NSL) data base. The questions specifically asked in **IV** were:

- 1. Does the bedrock composition affect the number of moose damage?
- 2. Do site types affect the number of moose damage?
- 3. How do different bedrock-site type combinations affect the number of damage?
- 4. How do different soil types affect the number of damage?
- 5. Does topography affect the number of damage?
- 6. How are damage located in relation to the location of formerly sub-aquatic and supra aquatic areas during the ancient phases of the Baltic Sea and northern ice lakes after the last deglaciation?

### 3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

### 3.1. Study areas

In both studies I and IV, the study area covered the southern and central parts of Finnish Lapland (I, Fig. 1; IV, Fig. 1). Also, in study III (III, Fig. 1), the northern study area consisted of the southern and central parts of Lapland. Part of the south-western Lapland belongs to mid-boreal vegetation zone but Lapland mostly belongs to the northern boreal vegetation zone (Ahti et al. 1968). The main tree species are Scots pine and Norway spruce, which are dominant in about 72% and 20% of the forest land (Finnish Statistical Yearbook... 2011). The rest of the forests are deciduous or mixed. The shrub layer comprises different willows and juniper. About 44% of the forestry land are peatlands of which 24% have been drained. About 36% of forest land is privately owned (Finnish Statistical Yearbook... 2011). Inhabited areas are concentrated mostly alongside the Kemi and Tornio rivers and their arteries. The climate of Lapland varies from subarctic in the north to continental in the east. Variation in altitude also causes large variation in climatic factors. The average annual temperature in the study area varied from +1  $^{\circ}$ C to -2  $^{\circ}$ C and the annual precipitation from 500 to 700 mm in years 1981-2010. The period with a permanent snow cover lasts from October to May, and the maximum snow depth ranges from about 60 cm in the south-west to about 90 cm in the northern most part of the area (Pirinen et al. 2012). The altitude in the area ranges from that of sea level in the south-west to 540 m a.s.l. at the top of highest fells in the north.

The whole study area in **II** and the modelling area Ostrobothnia in **III** are located in the western part of the Ostrobothnia province (**II**, Fig. 1; **III**, Fig. 1). In the east, the area restricts to topographic border formed by the highest shoreline after the last glacial period (Ojala et al. 2013), and the area is restricted to the Gulf of Bothnia in the west. The study area belongs to the mid-boreal region (Ahti et al. 1968). The main tree species are Scots pine, Norway spruce, birches, aspen, rowan and alder. Out of these, Scots pine is the main tree species in about 65% and Norway spruce in 11% of the forest land. The rest of the forestry land comprises peatlands, of which about 60% have been drained (Finnish Statistical Yearbook... 2011). The average annual temperature in the area varied from +1.9 °C to +2.6 °C and the precipitation from 470 to 620 mm per year during 1980-2010. Permanent snow cover lasts from October to April and the maximum depth of snow ranges from some few centimetres in the west up to about 56 cm in the east (Pirinen et al. 2012). Terrain is rather flat and the altitude varies from sea level in the west to about 200 m a.s.l. in the east.

### 3.2. Moose habitat use and damage data

Moose damage data for study **I** came from an inventory of originally 208 randomly selected plantations that had been regenerated for Scots pine, and which were inventoried for regeneration success (Hallikainen et al. 2004). Because only stands with Scots pine as the dominant tree species and with at least one living pine in sample plots were used in modelling, a total of 197 stands fulfilled these criteria. Furthermore, due to the possible autocorrelation problem, stands were not allowed to be closer than 5.7 km to each other, which corresponds to the approximate diameter of moose home range in winter. In addition, because 74 stands were used for test data, a total of 123 stands were used in modelling. The rest of the stands did not fulfil the criteria, either being non-pine-dominated or having no living pines in plots.

In study **I**, plantations were inventoried by using systematic line cruising and sample plots of 20 m<sup>2</sup>. On each plot, all trees taller than or equal to 10 cm were measured by tree species. Moose damage was recorded for artificially regenerated Scots pines, whose leader shoot had been browsed. Explanatory measured variables were divided into stand-level variables and plot-level variables (**I**, Table 1). Stand-level variables either did not have significant variation at the plot level or they could not be assessed in more detail. These included moose density, temperature sum, elevation, site type, soil scarification and some soil element concentrations. At the plot level, the number of all tree species, as well as the height of trees, was recorded. For deciduous trees, the number of trees taller than Scots pine were also recorded. Soil paludification and soil type were also recorded at the plot level.

For study **II**, a total of 73 moose (37 males and 36 females) were located from helicopter, immobilized and equipped with VHF radio collar in Ostrobothnia (Heikkinen 2000). After release, moose were located by triangulation mostly once a week, but in the times of intense movements in spring and autumn, two or three locations per week were assessed. By the end of 1996, the data consisted of 4544 locations. The timing of the seasons, i.e. winter, summer and autumn, were made for each moose individually (Heikkinen 2000). In spring, there was an abrupt increase in the distance of successive locations; the time when moose moved to summer pastures, and the time when moose finally left their winter ranges was used as the end of winter period. In autumn, moose

started to have bouts outside their summer ranges and gradually moved farther away from their summer pastures. The end of summer period was defined as the time point when locations dispersed over a much larger area than the cluster of summer locations. The start of the winter period was defined as a time when distances between locations decreased again, and moose settled in their winter ranges (Heikkinen 2000).

After dividing locations into summer, autumn and winter locations, home range boundaries for each moose and season were determined with harmonic mean method (Dixon and Chapman 1980). A minimum of 20 locations were required for each sex and season. The locations indicated that moose have infrequent bouts of movements causing some of the locations to be clearly outside the main cluster(s) of locations. Therefore, instead of using 100% isopleths, centres of activity were determined by examining the possible points of inflections in utilisation distribution plots (Harris et al. 1990). In most cases, slope discontinuity was found in about 80% of the utilization area, and therefore, 80% isopleths were used in the final home range analyses. After removing overlapping home ranges for the same individual moose in consecutive seasons, there were 33 summer (10 males and 23 females) and 21 winter home ranges (6 males and 15 females) for the analysis.

For studies III and IV, the data base of compensated moose damage plantations in private forests was utilized. The data were originally collected from Metsäkeskus (Finnish Forest Centre) files of compensated moose damage data. In Finland, the state pays compensation for moose damage to private forest owners for growth and quality losses and for possible regeneration costs. The area of damage must be >0.1 ha and the calculated value of damage has to exceed 170 euros. Compensation for the same plantation cannot be paid until three years have passed since the payment of earlier compensation (Finlex 2014). During the evaluation of the damaged plantation, the exact location of the damaged stand, main tree species, the number of other tree species, site type and numerous other variables are recorded. In study III, the locations of 2663 plantations in Ostrobothnia and 1287 plantations in Lapland that had been compensated in years 2002-2008 were used in the study. In study IV, data from 5362 compensated plantations from the years 1997-2010 were used. In study IV, information from 4551 field plots of National Forest Inventories without moose damage from NFI8 (1989-1994), NFI9 (1996-2003) and NFI10 (2004-2008) was used as control data. NFI plots with moose damage (279 plots) were used as reference data for the compensated damage stands to check whether there were possible differences in the treatments due to different sampling methods and damage criteria (NFI vs compensated moose damage data).

### 3.3. Land use and forest data

As land use and forest data in **II** and **III**, we used MS-NFI data (Tomppo et al. 2008). MS-NFI data is produced by combining satellite images, field plot data and digital map data of non-forest areas and by producing estimates of forest variables with *k*-nn algorithm. MS-NFI utilizes mostly Landsat TM or ETM+ satellite images, but SPOT HRV XS images have also been used to cover cloudy areas and missing Landsat images. MS-NFI produces separate maps of the estimates of numerous forest variables like tree species, volume by tree species, stand age etc. Estimates are produced for each 25 m × 25 m forest area (Tomppo et al. 2008). The original satellite image in study **II** was recorded in 1991, and in study **III**, MS-NFI data correspond to the year 2005 (source: NFI).

MS-NFI based digital maps of total volume estimates for Scots pine, Norway spruce and deciduous trees, as well as digital maps of agricultural fields, human settlements, roads, water and peatlands (source: National Land Survey), were imported as separate layers into GIS. Estimates of total volume for all tree species were summed by pixel and were further divided to age classes by using the total timber volume as a surrogate for forest age (Tomppo et al. 1998; Tomppo et al. 2012). Non-forest area land use and cover classes were assessed according to digital maps of non-forest areas (source NLS). In **II** and **III**, peatland forests were separated from mineral soil forests by using digital maps of peatlands (source NLS). In **III**, drained peatlands were further separated from non-drained with the aid of digitized ditches. As a result, each pixel could belong to one of 12 land use and cover classes in study **II** (**II**, Table 1) and to one of 15 classes in study **III** (**III**, Table 1).

### 3.4. Bedrock, soil, ancient shoreline and topographic data

For study IV, digital maps of bedrock and soil were obtained from the Hakku-service of the Geological Survey of Finland (hakku.gtk.fi). The Bedrock of Finland data set (Bedrock of Finland 2014 – DigiKP, Geological Survey of Finland (GSF), version 1.0.) was used as bedrock data. In bedrock data, lithological and stratigraphic information is presented as polygons, and the data are at 1:200000 scale. The data consists of 20 rock classes originally which have been further divided into 173 lithological units (http://tupa.gtk.fi/metaviite/kalliopera bedrock 200k legenda legend.pdf). For our analysis, we classified data into six larger groups, according to their origin and features (Koljonen 1992a; Koljonen 1992b): 1) Carbonate rocks (limestone, dolomitic carbonate rock, carbonatite, calcsilicate-rock and skarn), 2) Mafic and ultramafic rocks (e.g., gabbro class rocks, mafic tuff, tholeiitic basalt, peridotic komatiite, peridotite), 3) Schist and phyllite-class rocks (graphite, graphite sulphide and biotite paraschist, black schist, phyllite, semipelite), 4) Felsic and intermediate rocks (e.g. granite, dacite, diorite, granophyre, tonalite, felsic tuff), 5) Gneiss class rocks (e.g. migmatitic paragneiss, tonalitic migmatite, garnet-cordierite gneiss, quartz feldspar paragneiss, arkose gneiss) and 6) Quartzite class rocks (arkose quartzite, orthoquartzite, sericite quartzite). Gneisses and migmatites were grouped in the same class, independent of their origin (Koljonen 1992b). The first three classes can be considered as "fertile" rock types, and the three last ones are known as "nonfertile" rock types, according to their effects on the fertility of the growth sites (Kalliola 1973).

For study **IV**, soil data were derived from the Superficial deposit map of Finland (Superficial deposits of Finland 2013 – DigiMP, GSF, version 1.0). The data are at 1:200000 scale and consists of 12 soil types (Hyvönen et al. 2007). For the analyses, the surface and subsoil types were classified into five classes: 1) Fine-grained stratified soil (mainly silt), 2) Coarse-grained stratified soil (from fine sand to gravel), 3) Rocky soil (bedrock openings, block fields, cobbles and boulders, 4) Non-stratified soil (till) and 5) Peat (thin and thick peat formations).

In **IV**, the location of moose damage stands and NFI stands were also studied in relation to ancient shorelines and elevation. Information on shorelines was derived from the Ancient Shoreline Database<sup>©</sup> (ASD; GSF, version 6.1). The database shows the maximum extension for the Litorina Sea and for the highest shoreline of the Baltic Sea basin in Finland as well as known local ice lakes and ice-dammed lakes in Northern Finland (Ojala et al. 2013). The elevation of each stand was measured by using the Topographic database<sup>®</sup> of the National Land Survey of Finland.

### 3.5. Statistical analysis and modelling

In study **I**, the browsing rate proportions on plots were skewed and included an excessive number of zeros, i.e., non-browsed plots. Therefore, the response was defined as binary, browsing or non-browsing. Because the variables that were used in modelling represented two hierarchical levels, plot and stand, a logistic regression with a random factor was selected as the modelling technique (McCullagh and Nelder 1989). A binomial assumption of the distribution of the error term and logit link function were used. The random variable, the stand effect, was assumed as normally distributed. The models were constructed with SAS (ver. 9.1.3) MIXED procedure and GLIMMIX macro with a restricted pseudo-likelihood estimation method (Allison 1999). The comparison of the models and the selection of the best model was made by first checking Pearson's residuals against the modified predicted probabilities and then by comparing ROC (Receiving Operating Characteristic), specificity and sensitivity values (McCullagh and Nelder 1989). Model predictions were calculated with the best model for deciles of risk for both predicted and observed probabilities (Steinberg and Colla 2004).

In addition to hierarchical logistic models, five stand-level general linear models (GLM) were constructed to test whether the degree of browsing can be predicted with the same accuracy using averaged variable values from plots without the within-stand variability in variable values. The response value was the average proportion of browsed pines in a stand that was square-root and arccos-sin transformed to meet the distribution requirements of the GLM.

In study **II**, a compositional analysis (Aebischer et al. 1993) was used to analyse differences in the proportions of habitat classes between home ranges and overall landscapes and between the proportions of habitats used within home ranges and those available at home ranges. Analyses were made separately to compare both sexes and seasons and at both levels of selection. The rationale behind compositional analysis is that because there is a unit-sum constraint, i.e., the sum of proportions is 1, the proportions of habitat types are non-independent (Aitchison 1982). By transforming all habitat proportions to log-ratios using one of the habitat classes as a denominator renders log-ratios linearly independent (Aebischer et al. 1993). The habitat class 'Other' (**II**, Table 1) was used as a denominator. Zero proportions were replaced with an order of a magnitude smaller value (0.001) than what was found in the real data (Aebischer et al. 1993).

The proportion of each habitat was calculated for every combination of sex×season home range and for randomly placed home ranges. The original home ranges were randomly placed into the study area to represent overall landscapes and were restricted to have at a maximum of 19.13% class 'Other', 11.75% human settlements and 36.32% agricultural land. Those were the maximum values found in home range data. Because the locational accuracy of triangulated location data varies with distance, topography and vegetation cover, a 200 m buffer was formed around each location, and habitat proportions were calculated from this area for home-range to within-home range comparisons as well as for the comparisons between locations. There were 217 locations for males in the summer, 73 locations for males in the winter, 628 locations for females in the summer and 186 locations for females in the winter.

Due to a small amount of home ranges for some sex×season combinations, we used randomization (Manly 1997) in all the comparisons. A total of 5000 randomizations were used for HR vs overall landscape comparisons as well as for comparisons between locations. In home range vs location comparisons, 10000 randomizations were used. Before proceeding to univariate comparisons of habitat types, a multivariate comparison of mean differences among groups for a combination of all habitat classes was made by using Wilk's lambda, sum of log(F) and sum of squares (E-statistics) (Manly 1997).

In study **III**, three grids with the size of  $1 \times 1$  km,  $5 \times 5$  km and  $10 \times 10$  km (later referred to as 1 km<sup>2</sup>, 25 km<sup>2</sup> and 100 km<sup>2</sup> cells and landscapes, respectively) were superimposed on both study areas of Ostrobothnia and Lapland. Only grid cells that fulfilled the following criteria were used for modelling: 1) privately owned forest land had to be >50 % of the area, 2) there had to exist >0.5 ha privately owned plantations in the cell, and 3) after removing cells that did not fulfil previous criteria, the remaining cells still had to have a minimum of two adjacent cells. The number of moose damage was calculated for every cell and used as a response variable. Due to the possible autocorrelation, the average number of damage in neigbouring cells (2-8 cells) was also calculated and forced into every model (Dormann et al. 2007). A total of 15 land use and cover classes (**III**, Table 1a) were formed from MS-NFI data and the National Survey of Land digital map data and used as explanatory variables. In addition, ten sums of different original variable combinations (**III**, Table 1b) as well as the length of the roads of five different road classes (Digiroad database of the Finnish Transport Agency, FTA) were calculated for every cell and used as explanatory variables (**III**, Table 1a).

The number of non-damage cells was excessive in 1 km<sup>2</sup> and 25 km<sup>2</sup> cell sizes indicating zero inflated data (McCullagh and Nelder 1989). The mean number of damage was smaller than variance in all cell sizes, which possibly makes the data overdispersed (McCullagh and Nelder 1989). Therefore, we assumed the data to be zero-inflated negative binomially distributed (ZINB) (Zuur et al. 2009). In 100 km<sup>2</sup> cells, the number of moose damage cells was higher than non-damage cells in both study areas, but to preserve the comparability of the models among cell sizes, we used a ZINB-based modelling procedure for 100 km<sup>2</sup> cells as well.

As a modelling technique, we used zero inflated count models that are two-component mixture models, in which zeros can originate from two stochastic processes, the binomial process and the count process (Zuur et al. 2009). The data in **III** can contain zero (non-damage) cells for at least two reasons. First, so-called false zeros (Martin et al. 2005) might occur because a land owner had not applied for compensation, even though moose damage had occurred in a cell. Second, zero cells can also be so-called true zeros when there is no moose damage in a cell, even though it contains plantations susceptible to damage. In ZINB regression, the response variable Yi (i = 1, ...n) has a probability mass function given by

$$P_r(Y_i = y_i) = \begin{cases} p_i + (1 \ p_i) \left(\frac{\theta}{\mu_i + \theta}\right)^{\theta}, & y_i = 0, \\ (1 - p_i) \frac{\Gamma(\theta + y_i)}{\Gamma(y_i + 1)\Gamma(\theta)} \left(\frac{\mu_i}{\mu_i + \theta}\right)^{y_i} \left(\frac{\theta}{\mu_i + \theta}\right)^{\theta}, y_i = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$
(1)

Where  $0 \le p_i \le 1$ ,  $\mu_i \ge 0$ ,  $\theta$  is the dispersion parameter with  $\theta > 0$  and  $\Gamma(.)$  is the gamma function.

Zero inflated models use binomial general linear models (GLM) to model the probabilities of measuring zeros, and the count process is modelled by a Poisson, or as in study **III**, negative binomial distribution (Zuur et al., 2009). In ZINB modeling zero-part of the model is estimated with binary model, and conditional to that, estimates for the count part of the model are calculated. As a result, two models are produced. The first gives the best combination of variables for predicting zero-cases, i.e., non-damage cells in our data. The second model gives variables that best predict the number of damage.

Due to a large number of variables and numerous combinations that these variables can have, it was not feasible to test all parameter combinations. Furthermore, all parameter combinations are not necessarily meaningful, and therefore, ten hypotheses of the effects of different habitat types, as well as the length of roads, on moose damage were formed and tested (III, Table 2). All ten models (Model#1-Model#10) were built separately for all landscape sizes and both study areas. Each model was run as many times as needed to have only significant predictors, if any, in both the count and zero models. After producing all the models for all ten parameter combinations and landscape sizes, the final model candidate for each landscape size was formed by adding all the significant variables from models #1-#10 to the model and by recalculating models as many times as needed to only have significant predictors left in both the count and zero models. To account for the possible autocorrelation among adjacent cells, the average number of damage in neighbouring cells was forced on all models (Dormann et al. 2007). The comparisons of the models in each model step and final models were made with Akaike's Information Criteia, AIC. Models with  $\triangle AIC > 2$  were considered to be significantly different from each other (Burnham and Anderson 2002).

Models were built by using R and package pscl for zero inflated negative binomial and binomial modelling (Zeileis et al. 2008). We used R-package MASS (Venables and Ripley 2002) for calculating 95% confidence interval for predictions. In calculating confidence intervals, we assumed a normal distribution of variables and used 2500 random samples per unit for each estimate. Finally, because we only modelled the main effects, we also calculated the marginal effects of variables and produced the graphs of the predicted number of moose damage for the variables included in the final models by using 25%, 50% and 75% quartile levels for the main covariables in models. Due to highly skewed distributions, 90 or 95% quartile levels were used for some variables. The proportion of plantations was used as the main variable in marginal effect calculations, because moose damage mostly occurs in these. For zero models, only the mean models of each significant variable were presented.

In study **IV**, bedrock class and soil type for compensated damage plantations, as well as NFI-control stands and NFI-damage stands, were assigned by overlaying the locations of plantations and NFI-plots with respective data. Elevation for data points was assigned similarly with the aid of NLS elevation model. The site type for damage plantations was derived from the register of compensated plantations and for control plantations – from NFI-plot data. Statistical differences in the distributions of different rock and soil classes, as well as forest types, between NFI-control stands, NFI-damage stands and compensated damage stands were tested with the crosstabs function of SPSS (20.0) by using the Pearson's Chi-square test for overall differences and z-test for column (dependent) proportions. The difference in altitudes between control and compensated damage stands were tested with the t-test for the equality of means (SPSS 20.0).

The frequency of moose damage might depend directly on the amount of plantations in some areas and the differences between areas due to other factors might be obscured. Therefore, in **IV**, we calculated the area of development classes 2–4 for each municipality in the study area by using MS-NFI data (corresponding to year 2005) and analysed the correlation between the number of damage and the proportion of development classes 2–4 with the Spearman's non-parametric correlation test (SPSS 20.0). According to NFI definitions, development classes 2–4 refer to young seedling stands, advanced seedling stands and young thinning stands, respectively.

### 4. MAIN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### 4.1. Study I

Six models, including different combinations of variables from both plot, as well as stand level, were produced. As judged with the ROC curve (Receiver Operating Characteristic), specificity and sensitivity, the performance of the models was relatively good. ROC values ranged from 80.2 to 84.1. Sensitivity, i.e., the percentage of correctly predicted moose damage, ranged from 64.4 to 72.3. and for no-damage plots (specificity) from 77.2 to 81.6. Overall, the performance of all the models was fairly good, and the measures used for comparing models indicated that the differences among models were slight. When the probability of damage was calculated by deciles of risk, the models showed slight underestimates in the lowest deciles and overestimates in the highest deciles.

Overall, the probability of finding a damage on a plot increased along with the increasing number of living pines and deciduous trees. However, when the number of pines was divided into two categories, naturally regenerated pines and artificially regenerated pines, only the number of artificially regenerated pines was significant in the same model. Similarly, when the number of deciduous trees was divided into those shorter than pines and taller than pines, only the number of deciduous trees taller than pines was a significant variable in the same model. The number of artificially regenerated pines and deciduous trees taller than pines and deciduous trees taller than pines improved the performance of all models and were included in all the final models 2-4.

The probability of browsing increased along with an increasing number of living pines on plot-level models. Several studies have shown that the number of browsed pines increases when the number of available pines increaseas (Heikkilä 1991; Heikkilä and Mikkonen 1992; Ball and Dahlgren 2002). However, an increase in browsed biomass and, consequently, leader shoots have been found not to follow the 1:1 rate linearly, and therefore, the number of unbrowsed trees also increases along with density (Heikkilä and Mikkonen 1992; Heikkilä and Härkönen 1996; Ball and Dahlgren 2002). A logical conclusion of this result is that to ensure the adequate number of pines from the silvicultural point of view, the number of regenerated pines should be increased at least in areas with high moose damage risk. The models in **I** do not allow further conclusions about the number of pines required to ensure the silviculturally sustainable number of growable pines, but some earlier studies have suggested that if the number of pines is increased to some 4000-5000, pines it should ensure an adequate number of pines (Lyly and Saksa 1992; Ball and Dahlgren 2002). However, the probability of browsing was strongly dependent on the soil preparation method (**I**, Fig. 3) indicating that the amount of pines needed to ensure an adequate number of growable trees is also dependent on the other properties of the stand like soil type. According to our model (**I**, Fig. 3), the probability of browsing was >0.5 when the number of pines exceeded about 2000-2800 living pines in plantations with the heaviest soil preparation. Assuming the smaller than 1:1 ratio (Ball and Dahlgren 2002), in the proportion of browsed pines, when the number of pines increases, the result in **I** confirms the recommendations to increase the number of regenerated pines, at least in sites with heavy soil preparation. As stated, however, the models in **I** do not allow for a more detailed assessment of the recommended pines to be given, therefore **I** only refer to the recommendations of Lyly and Saksa (1992) and Ball and Dahlgren (2002).

The second most important variable, predicting increasing browsing damage, was the number of deciduous trees taller than pines on a plot (**I**, Table 3). Also, the total number of deciduous trees on a plot increased the probability of browsing, but when the number of deciduous trees taller than pines was added to the model, the effect of the total number of deciduous trees was overridden. Overtopping deciduous trees have been detected to increase the browsing of pines in earlier studies as well (Heikkilä 1990; Bergqvist et al. 2014). The mechanism behind this has been attributed to the shading effect of tall deciduous trees on pines which may affect either the structural characteristics of pines, by making the trunk and shoots slender, or shading might change the proportions of chemical compounds in the trees more favourable for moose (Edenius 1993).

The results of the effect of deciduous trees on pine browsing have been variable in earlier studies. In most of the studies, deciduous trees either did not increase the browsing of pines or the increase was slight (Heikkilä 1990; Danell et al. 1991; Edenius 1991; Härkönen et al. 1998; Bergqvist et al. 2012; Bergqvist et al. 2014), while some studies have found a positive effect between most favoured deciduous species and pine browsing (Heikkilä and Härkönen 1996; Milligan and Koricheva 2013). According to the stand level models in I, the number of deciduous trees did not predict the proportion of browsed pines to increase when the average number of deciduous trees was used. This indicates that in addition to the height of deciduous trees, the within-stand density variation of deciduous trees might affect browsing probability. Dense deciduous tree groups around pines possibly provide moose with a better chance to maximize both energy and nutritional needs (Shipley 2010). In tree species-rich patches, moose are less selective, due to which, less preferred species are also browsed more than in less species-rich patches (Milligan and Koricheva 2013). From the theoretical point of view this is in accordance with plant association theory (Barbosa et al. 2009), according to which, the associational susceptibility occurs when lower quality plants get more frequently browsed, when there are high quality plants present in the same patch.

However, because of the lack of data of the browsing intensity of species other than pine, I can only conclude that the spatial variaton in the distribution of deciduous trees within stands is possibly one factor affecting the selectivity of moose and, consequently, the browsing probability on pines. To conclude, the number of deciduous trees *per se* is probably not a determinative factor explaining browsing on pine. Instead, the effect of deciduous trees should be examined by various structural components like horizontal and vertical distribution of deciduous tree mixture in plantations in relation to pine.

The probability of moose damage was highest in stands with heavy mechanical soil preparation (MSP) (I, Fig. 3). Ploughing increased the browsing risk two to six times more as compared with slighter methods. To my knowledge, MSP has not been linked to moose

browsing in earlier studies, but browsing has been found to occur more on fertile sites (Ball and Dahlgren 2002). MSP has been commonly used in sites with a thick humus layer and fine-grained mineral soil to increase the soil temperature as well as to reduce the water content of the soil. Also, the mineralization of the nutrients is enhanced, and the effects of MSP have been shown to continue throughout the time that pines are available for moose browsing (Mäkitalo 1999). Therefore, one possible explanation for the higher browsing probability in heavy MSP sites is the better nutrient composition, higher biomass or the combination of these in trees. However, the higher magnesium in high browsing probability stands also suggests that the differences in soil nutrients among sites might partly explain browsing (see also Study **IV**).

The predicted probabilities of model 3 did not show abrupt changes as a function of moose density, the number of artificially regenerated living pines or the number of deciduous trees taller than pines and any of the soil treatment methods (I, Fig. 3). The probability of moose browsing was >0.5 only when the soil treatment was ploughing and the height of pines >75 cm. Because site type was not a significant predictor, the results further support the idea that MSP has an independent effect on the palatability of trees, at least in heavy MSP sites.

The stand-level models with averaged variable values indicated that it was possible to predict the number of browsed pines with about the same combinations of variables than what explained the probability of browsing on a plot level. The  $R^2$  of the models varied from 0.35 to 0.39. However, the number of deciduous trees taller than pines and paludification were not significant variables in any of the final stand level models, indicating a loss of important parameters of within-stand variation.

Moose density, temperature sum and altitude m a.s.l. were all significant predictors of browsing. Due to high correlations between these variables, however, they could not be included in the same model. In addition, the replacement of these variables with each other in models affected on the performance of the model only slightly. However, moose density and altitude both had independent explanatory power when included in the same model. Lower elevation, higher temperature sum and high moose densities co-exist with high browsing probability in the south-west part of Lapland. Climatic factors, like snow cover and the length of the growing period, have been found to contribute to the variation in moose damage level (Hörnberg 2001b). Climatic and topographic factors are confounded in our study area and might have ambiguous effects on moose browsing. On the one hand, trees grow faster above the height when they are susceptible for moose browsing in higher temperature sum areas (Hörnberg 2001b), but on the other the overall productivity of the vegetation is also higher in high temperature sum areas, making these probably more favourable for moose.

#### 4.2. Study II

A multivariate comparison of summer and winter home ranges indicated that there was a significant difference in habitat composition between seasons (0.74% of randomizations < original Wilk's  $\Lambda$ ), and therefore, seasons were analysed separately. Instead, a multivariate comparison of summer home range habitat compositions between males and females did not show difference and, therefore, sexes were pooled for the analysis.

### 4.2.1. Summer home ranges

In the multivariate comparison of pooled summer home range compositions with overall landscapes, only Wilk's  $\Lambda$  gave significant difference (0.02% of randomizations < original Wilk's  $\Lambda$ ). Of all the habitat classes, only non-pine-dominated thinning forests were more abundant in home ranges than in the overall landscape (**II**, Fig. 2).

The multivariate comparison of habitat compositions in within-home range selection in summer showed a significant difference between sexes with all the statistics used (0.01% of randomizations < original Wilk's  $\Lambda$ , 2.38% for sum of log(F) and 0.01 for E statistics). Within home ranges, females used areas with more non-pine-dominated plantations and all kinds of thinning forests than found on home ranges, whereas pine-dominated plantations on peatlands/shrub land were less frequent around female locations. Around male locations, instead, there were significantly more mature forests and non-pine-dominated young forests than expected. There was also a similar trend towards pine-dominated thinning forests. Overall, although several comparisons of within-home range habitat use by both males and females showed significant differences, the differences in terms of proportions, were quite small, a maximum of only 2-3 percentage units.

Only a few studies have addressed moose summer habitat selection (Cederlund and Okarma 1988; Hjeljord et al. 1990; Bø and Hjeljord 1991; Heikkilä et al. 1996). In general, moose have been suggested to be able to use a variety of habitats in summer, instead of being strictly adapted to certain types of habitats (Hjeljord et al. 1990). Also, the results in II support this view because summer home ranges had a habitat composition close to that of the overall landscape. However, non-pine-dominated forests were more abundant in home ranges, and moose also used non-pine-dominated forests more within home ranges than expected (II, Fig. 3), which indicates that moose select areas with more fertile habitats in the summer (Bergström and Hjeljord 1987; Hjeljord et al. 1990). Also, mature forests have been suggested to be important habitats during snow-free periods due to important food plants in the dwarf shrub layer (Cederlund et al. 1980) and due to delayed phenological changes in food plants, especially in late summer (Hjeljord et al. 1990). The proportion of mature forests in home ranges was not different from that in the overall landscapes suggesting that mature forests do not direct moose summer range selection. However, within home ranges mature forests were used more than expected indicating these to be important habitats at scales smaller than home ranges.

### 4.2.2. Winter home ranges

Male and female winter home ranges did not show significant differences in habitat compositions, and therefore, sexes were pooled for the home range level analysis. The multivariate analysis showed a significant difference or a trend between pooled home range habitat compositions and overall landscapes (0.02% of randomizations < original Wilk's  $\Lambda$ , 7.2% for sum of log(F) and 3.22 for E statistics), and therefore, habitat classes were compared separately further on. Moose winter ranges included more pine-dominated, young forests than expected on the basis of the overall landscape habitat composition. In particular, pine-dominated plantations and thinning forests on peatlands were more abundant in moose home ranges than found in the overall landscape. Instead, there were significantly less settlements and agricultural land in moose winter ranges than found in the overall landscape (**II**, Fig. 2).

The multivarate comparison of within-home range habitat use between males and females showed a significant difference (3.12% of randomizations < original Wilk's  $\Lambda$ , 5.62% for sum of log(F) and 3.41% for E statistics), and therefore, further comparisons were made separately for both sexes. Habitat compositions around female winter locations contained significantly more non-pine-dominated plantations and thinning forests, and there were less settlements and agricultural fields than expected on the basis of home range habitat compositions. For males, the only difference between home range habitat compositions and the habitats around locations was that males used slightly more non-pine-dominated plantations than expected.

In winter snow covers most of the ground and shrub layer vegetation and moose use lower quality food nutritionally than in summer (Cederlund et al. 1980). Moose also spend less time feeding in winter than in summer, and therefore, moose should seek areas with relatively densely distributed feeding habitats to fulfil the energy needs even at the cost of nutritional demands (Cederlund 1989). Because a large proportion of winter range habitats were pine-dominated forests of young successional stages, the results in **II** seem to support the idea that moose respond to food quantity at the home range level (Cederlund 1989; Wallace et al. 1995). Within home ranges, instead, moose favoured areas with non-pinedominated forests more, which indicates that, in addition to summer (Hjeljord et al. 1990), habitats with a mixture of tree species other than pine are also important in winter.

Pine-dominated peatland forests were the most abundant habitat class in winter home ranges, comprising one third of the range on average. There were also significantly more pine-dominated peatland forests in home ranges than found in the overall landscape. Within home ranges, however, peatland habitats were used in about the same proportions as found in home ranges. More peatlands have been found in areas with higher moose densities (Heikkilä and Härkönen 1993), and peatlands have been suggested to be important for moose all year around (Heikkilä et al. 1996). Heikkilä and Härkönen (1993) hypothesized that the mechanisms behind this might be linked to accelerated nutrient mobilization in drained peatlands, which affects, e.g., secondary metabolite production and/or increase in the growth of trees and other food plants. However, peatland forests are rather excessive in our study area and are more or less bound to be included in the large home ranges of moose. Also, the contradictory finding that peatland forests were used less than expected within home ranges might be due to the fact that peatlands within home ranges are abundant enough for moose to satisfy their needs related to peatland forests with relatively little use of these habitats (Johnson 1980). In conclusion, the results in II seem to support the idea of peatland forests being important habitats of moose winter ranges.

#### 4.2.3. HR habitat composition between sexes

The comparison between male and female habitat compositions of home ranges did not show significant differences in summer, or in winter. Also, in within-home range habitat use, the differences were slight. Male summer locations tended to have more pinedominated plantations on mineral soils, whereas there were more pine-dominated thinning forests around female locations. In winter, males were located more in pine-dominated forests with mineral soils than females.

The comparisons of habitat selection between sexes alone do not necessarily reveal the preference for certain habitat types, but the comparisons should also include within-sex habitat selection at both the home range level as well as at within-home range levels. This is because the habitat selection for both sexes is conditional to the habitat composition at the

order of the higher level of selection, not on the other sex. However, when also taking the results of the within-range habitat use of both sexes into account, males and females seem to use slightly different habitats both in summer and in winter. Females and males are spatially segregated during most of the year, and due to differences in body size, their energy and nutritional needs are probably different (Cederlund and Sand 1994). In winter, male moose used more pine-dominated habitats than females, which supports the hypothesis that males seek habitats with good food availaibility, rather than quality (Cederlund and Sand 1994). Other factors, like the effect of offspring, have also been shown to cause different habitat selection between males and females (van Beest et al. 2011), but the data at hand in **II** did not allow for further analysis of the effect of offspring.

### 4.2.4. HR habitat composition between seasons

In the comparisons of summer and winter home range habitat compositions, there were less only human settlements and agricultural fields in winter ranges than in summer ranges, but the differences between other habitat types were not significant. The negative correlations of other habitat classes and settlements (**II**, Table 2) further suggested that winter ranges are located in areas with less inhabited areas.

Migration distances between summer and home ranges in our study population were quite short, 15-25 km (Heikkinen 2000), which indicates that migration does not reflect any substantial variation in habitat characteristics or, e.g., snow depth. The start of spring migration temporally coincides with snow melt (Sandegren et al. 1985) and the emergence of fresh green vegetation (LeResche 1974), which in our study area, might be the proximate reason for moose to migrate closer to the coast and an earlier emergence of fresh vegetation in there. Thus, the habitat compositions do not necessarily have to show large differences between winter and summer seasons (Ball et al. 2001). However, winter ranges included slightly more pine-dominated habitats and, in particular, moose used more thinning forests within home ranges, which could be related to snow depth or the quality of snow (Ball et al. 2001).

### 4.3. Study III

Numerous models with significant variables could be constructed both for Ostrobothnia and Lapland and for all landscape sizes. However, when compared with  $\Delta$ AIC, the differences between models were in most cases tens of AIC units (**III**, Annexes 3 and 4), indicating high variability in probabilities for models to have the best set of variables. For all landscape sizes and for both study areas, the final model had the lowest AIC.

A 'Mature forest' was a significant variable in five out of six final count models and in four zero models. An increase in the proportion of mature forests increased the number of damage and decreased the probability for damage in the landscape. Mature forests have been found to be important determinants of moose habitat selection in earlier studies as well (Bjørneraas et al. 2011; Olsson et al. 2011). In autumn, dwarf-shrubs are an important source of food before snow covers them (Cederlund et al. 1980), but in winter, mature forests do not necessarily provide much food. Instead, they might provide cover, but also lower energy costs due to lower snow depth or the quality of the snow (Ball et al. 2001; Bjørneraas et al. 2011). Regeneration areas in the private forests of Finland are relatively small, 1-2 hectares, and consequently, edge density is high, making food resources

(plantation) and cover (mature forest) adjacencies frequent. From the point of view of moose, forest landscapes might thus appear fine-grained which has been hypothesized to to lead to higher browsing as compared with landscapes with coarser grain size (Edenius et al. 2002; Cassing et al. 2006).

Thinning forests affected the number of damage in various ways, depending on the landscape size and the type of thinning forests. Both in Ostrobothnia and Lapland, an increase in the proportion of thinning forests increased the number of damage. The mechanism for this is probably the same as for mature forests; thinning forests do not provide much food in winter, but they might provide better cover and lower energy costs due to lower snow depth or the structure of the snow (Bjørneraas et al. 2011). In Lapland, however, an increase in pine-dominated thinning forests decreased the number of damage although a posteriori test showed that there was a strong correlation between the proportions of pine-dominated thinning forests and pine-dominated plantations on mineral soil (Spearman's rho = 0.68, p<0.001). One explanation for this might be the legacy of post-WWII forestry that produced large areas of coniferous, mostly pine-dominated forests. Although, deciduous trees are a common mixture in regeneration areas, stands regenerated for pine might develop as more or less monocultures with little deciduous trees, at least in most less-productive sites. Therefore, the combination of pine-dominated thinning forests and pine-dominated plantations probably does not provide a more attractive habitat than habitats with a more diverse tree species composition (see also II). This again would cause there to be less damage in areas with a large amount of pine-dominated thinning forests.

The proportion of plantations alone was not a good predictor of the number of damage, and the difference between landscapes with and without damage was low (**III**, Annexes 1a, 1b, 2a and 2b). Instead, as stated above, the number of damage increased when plantations were embedded in a mosaic of mature forests. It has been suggested that modern forestry with relatively small treatment units has homogenized forest landscapes and increased the effective habitat area for moose (Edenius et al. 2002). This, in turn, could make the habitat use of moose relatively even across the favoured habitat types in a home range. Another plausible explanation is that because moose are not territorial, the density of moose can be locally substantial, and, at least in high moose density areas browsing leads to the depletion of food resources. This leads to a shift in habitat use (Van Beest et al. 2010), and as a consequence of several shifts, to a more or less even use of resources within home ranges.

There was less moose damage in plantations close to roads and inhabited areas than in plantations farther apart. In Ostrobothnia, inhabited areas were a significant predictor in models, whereas in Lapland, the length of connecting roads had the same effect as inhabited areas in OB. The negative effects of inhabited areas and roads were significant in 1 km<sup>2</sup> and 25 km<sup>2</sup> models, which implies that the disturbance of human activities reduces moose damage at these scales. However, there is a strong correlation between the proportion of inhabited areas and the length of roads and in both Ostrobothnia and Lapland (depending on the landscape size, Spearman's rho 0.56-0.72, p<0.001). Therefore, these two factors are at least partially intertwined.

Less moose damage has been found close to inhabited areas and roads (Repo and Löyttyniemi 1985; Heikkilä 1990), and moose have been found to move farther from inhabited areas and roads in times of high human activity (Lykkja et al. 2009; Neumann et al. 2013). Thus, the results in **III** together with earlier findings seem to support the hypothesis that human disturbance causes predator avoidance-like behavior of moose (Frid and Dill 2002). As a consequence, moose damage is also lesser in the vicinity of inhabited areas and roads. However, Ball and Dahlgren (2002) found moose damage to aggregate

close to densely trafficked road, probably due to the barrier effect. The results of **III** how there was less damage close to roads, are not necessarily contrary to those of Ball and Dahlgren's, but might be explained with different traffic density and the structure of roads. In Lapland, connecting roads are the most common road type after forest roads, and by the definition, connecting roads are 4-5 m wide with mainly asphalt pavement. Of all road types, moose-vehicle collisions are the most common in connecting roads (Finnish Transport Agency 2014), which confirms that connecting roads do not form barriers to moose. However, the vicinity of roads might not be favoured by moose which, again, is seen as the lower number of damage close to roads.

In study II, there were significantly more pine-dominated forests on peatlands in moose home ranges than on the average in the overall landcsape, which coincides with the results of Cederlund and Okarma (1988), Heikkilä and Härkönen (1993) and Olsson et al. (2011). However, pine-dominated forests, either on drained or undrained peatlands, did not have any effect on the predicted number of moose damage in study III. Pine-dominated forests on mineral soil and pine-dominated forests on peatlands correlate significantly at 1 km<sup>2</sup> (Spearman's rho = 0.18, p<0.001) and 5 km<sup>2</sup> (Spearman's rho=0.39) landscapes, but peatland forests were significant variables in only four out of 30 models in Ostrobothnia. This is probably due to the fact that peatlands in the Ostrobothnia study area are quite excessive and peatlands inevitably become included in relatively large home ranges of moose (Olsson et al. 2011). Therefore, the finding in **II** could be explained by the fact that peatlands are more or less unavoidable habitats found in the mosaic of food and cover, although they might not provide much forage in winter. Another possibility is that if peatland forests are an important food resource for moose (Heikkilä and Härkönen 1993), they might reduce the amount of food obtained from plantations on mineral soil, and thus reduce moose damage risk in these. Indeed, peatlands indicated a negative effect on the number and occurrence of damage in 1 km<sup>2</sup> landscapes, but it should be remembered, however, that peatland forests were not significant variables in final models. However, the role of peatlands in moose ecology and their effect on moose damage still remains to be assessed in future studies of the actual use of peatland habitats by moose.

### 4.4. Study IV

In Study **IV**, the majority of the damaged stands were located in South-West Lapland and in eastern Lapland (**IV**, Fig. 2). In **IV**, the regional distribution of neither the number of damage nor the proportion of damaged plantations could be explained with the proportion of young forests of development classes 2-4.

When bedrock composition alone was studied, the overall distribution of rock classes was significantly different between compensated damage stands and NFI-control stands (**IV**, Fig. 3). Compensated damage stands were located more on nutrient-rich carbonate rocks, mafic and ultramafic rocks, but less on gneisses and felsic and intermediate rocks. Intriguingly, compensated damage stands were located also on quartzite class rocks more often, although these were classified as nutrient-poor rocks. The finding that compensated damage stands were located more often on nutrient-rich rocks was further confirmed when testing the frequency of compensated damage stands and control-NFI stands in the pooled nutrient-rich class rocks (classes 1-3) and nutrient-poor class rocks (classes 4-6). Pooled nutrient-rich class rocks were also found more frequently in all site types in compensated damage stands as compared with control NFI-stands (**IV**, Fig. 4). The proportion of

nutrient-rich rocks as underlying rock types, however, decreased along with the decreasing fertility of the site type.

Out of all site-types studied, mesic and sub-xeric were the most frequent ones (84-98% of the stands), and consequently, most compensated damage stands, as well as NFI-control stands and NFI-damage stands, were found in these. However, compensated damage stands, as well as damaged NFI-stands were located statistically significantly more often in mesic and sub-xeric sites than control NFI-stands. Instead, the most nutrient-rich as well as nutrient-poor site types were more common in both types of NFI-stands than in compensated damage stands. This seems to be contrary to the fact that moose prefer fertile sites, but one explanation might be that there were more nutrient-poor rocks in NFI-sites than in compensated damages sites (**IV**, Fig. 4), which might be reflected in the composition or amount of nutrients in trees (see also discussion of soil type below).

A large body of studies show that moose prefer more fertile habitats over poorer ones (Niemelä and Danell 1988; Heikkilä 1990; Heikkilä and Härkönen 1993; Ball and Dahlgren 2002; Månsson et al. 2009), but the site type itself seems to not be linked to, e.g., chemical compounds of the trees that affect the food selection of herbivores (Stolter et al. 2010). The consumption of biomass by moose is higher in fertile habitats, which provide better quality and a larger quantity of food, but also a larger collection of alternative food plants (Niemelä and Danell 1988; Heikkilä 1990; Heikkilä and Härkönen 1993; Månsson 2009). The results in IV indicated that the site type alone was not a very good predictor of moose damage, but the vulnerability to damage might partly result from underlying bedrock. Nutrient-rich rocks were more frequent in damaged plantations than in undamaged ones, whereas nutrient-poor rocks were more abundant in undamaged stands in all site types. This might at least partly explain why there were more undamaged stands in, e.g., the second most fertile site type, herb-rich heaths. Overall, the results suggest that the assessment of moose damage risk by site type should be done in association with bedrock composition. The results might also partly explain why the site type did not explain moose damage risk in I, but the moose damage risk was the highest in sites with heavy mechanical soil preparation.

Non-stratified soil (till) is the most common mineral soil type in Scandinavia (Koljonen and Tanskanen 1992), and consequently, most of the compensated damage stands as well as NFI-stands located on till soil (63.7-81.5% of the stands). Compensated damage stands, however, were located significantly more often on till than control NFI-stands, whereas these were more common on grained soils, peatlands and rocky soils. In Lapland, Scots pine and Norway spruce naturally regenerate on different soils. Norway spruce inhabit areas of fine-grained, Mg- and Ca-rich till, whereas Scots pine typically grows in more coarse-grained, dry, acidic and nutrient-poor soil (Sutinen et al. 2002; Sutinen et al. 2007; Sutinen et al. 2011). The analysis in **IV** did not separate soil types by site-type, but because more than half of the damaged stands were located on moist or sub-xeric heaths with nutrient-rich bedrock, presumably some of the pine plantations were located on former Spruce sites. Former spruce sites have been hypothesized to be sub-optimal growth sites for pine due to higher soil moisture (Sutinen et al. 2007). Heavy mechanical soil preparation have been often used in these sites to improve soil properties for pine, and the effect of soil preparation on the growth of pines has been shown to continue throughout the time that the leader shoots of pine are available for moose (Mäkitalo 1999). However, there is some evidence that the effect of MSP starts to decline after some 12-20 years, partly due to the excess leaching of some minerals like P, Ca and Mg (Sutinen et al. 2007). As a consequence, pines growing on moist, fine-grained soils might suffer from nutrient imbalance, which together with excessive moisture, might lower pine resistance to herbivores (Phelan et al. 1996).

In SW Lapland, compensated damage stands were found at higher altitudes more often than control NFI-stands, whereas in the east and north, the situation was the opposite (**IV**, Fig. 6). In general, compensated damage stands were also more often located in areas that were sub-aquatic under the ancient phases of Baltic Sea and Lithorina Sea or under northern ice lakes ca. 7000-11,000 years ago. Because large parts of Lapland were under water by that time, some of the observed pattern might just be an anomaly. However, in some formely submerged areas, soil formation is a result of the mechanisms caused by water. The finest particles of soil leached away from fell slopes and were deposited at lower altitudes (Lindroos 2003; Sarala and Rossi 2006). As a consequence, the top soil of low-lying areas often contains fine-grained material on the surface of non-stratified fine-grained till making these areas moister than could be deducted from the top soil layer only. As a consequence, these soils have atypically fresh vegetation for a superficially coarse-grained soil (Lindroos 2003), which probably makes them favoured habitats by moose. However, the data in **IV** did not allow for the direct investigation of this phenomenon, so it remains to be assessed in detail in future studies.

# 5. MOOSE RESOURCE SELECTION AT MULTIPLE SCALES AND IMPLICATIONS FOR DAMAGE RISK

The results in this thesis largely confirm the assertion that the habitat selection of moose and resources therein are affected by numerous factors, and that the selection takes place at several levels. But by which criteria do moose select their habitats and resources, and what are the implications for moose damage risk?

### 5.1. Region level

36

At a regional scale, some environmental conditions, like topography, bedrock and climatic factors, vary naturally. These factors partly affected the variation in the spatial distribution of moose damage. Moose damage was the most frequent in areas with the most nutrient-rich bedrock, Lapland Greenstone Belt in the east and Peräpohja Schist Belt in the SW Lapland. Also, post-glacial processes like soil deposition in submerged areas, have formed anomalies in soil properties that exist in patches, the size of which ranges from some hundreds of meters to some few kilometres. Bedrock and soil together form anomalies that extend to the regional level. Also, climatic factors like snow depth vary at a regional level, which is probably one factor explaining differences in the occurrence of damage in relation to altitude.

Although there are several factors affecting the regional distribution of damage, the effect of moose population density cannot be totally ruled out to be one more factor behind this. Due to the long period of time that both the moose damage data as well as NFI-data covered in **IV**, the effect of regional differences in moose population on the amount of damage could not be assessed. Population changes of moose and moose damage have been shown to correlate with each other at a regional level, but a direct connection between moose density and the level of damage has not been found (Hörnberg 2001b). It is
probable, that the primary production of vegetation is higher in the areas of nutrient-rich bedrock and soil, and the quality of food is also better than in low-production areas. Although it goes beyond the scope of this thesis, it can be hypothesised that the recruitment of moose population in these areas is more efficient, which calls for careful monitoring of moose population and moose damage.

In addition to factors that vary naturally, the amount and distribution of man-modified landscapes also vary from one region to another, and different factors affect the amount of moose damage in different regions. There was less damage close to inhabited areas in Ostrobothnia, but instead, less damage was found close to the connecting roads in Lapland. The amount of inhabited areas and the length of roads are strongly correlated, and these two factors are thus at least partly intertwined. Indeed, in Ostrobothnia, both of these factors had independent explanatory power in predictive models, but in Lapland, the length of roads was virtually the only factor that reduced the amount of damage. Manmade features in landscapes might play a different role from one region to another, depending on their amount and spatial distribution. The mechanism behind both factors, however, is that manmade landscapes and related disturbance cause trade-offs in the habitat use of moose. From the point of view of moose, the quality of the habitats of otherwise similar characteristics might be lower when close to manmade features than farther apart. This effect was found to extend up to some three kilometres, but because winter ranges of moose are also located farther from inhabited areas, I make a conservative inference, that the predictive effect of manmade features on moose damage might not reach that far.

## 5.2. Home range level

At the moose home range level, seasonal ranges did not have substantial differences in habitat composition, but in winter, moose selected ranges with abundant food resources. In summer, moose use a more diverse set of habitats due to their capability to use a variety of food plants. In addition to the amount of food, the spatial arrangement of food and cover are also important at the home range level. Landscapes with abundant food-cover adjacencies are favoured over more homogenous landscapes with a more narrow distribution of forest age classes or tree species composition.

In summer, moose are able to use a variety of food plants, perhaps due to which, the role of habitat type is not as important as in winter. However, in summer, moose seem to favour more fertile habitats than in winter. Fertile habitats provide better-quality food in terms of food quantity, but probably due to a more diverse plant species composition as well. In winter, when only a limited composition of plant food species is available, the bulk of food is more important to gain the energy needed. Male and female moose use slightly different types of habitats, which might be related to different energy needs between sexes, also to the effect of offspring.

Within home ranges moose use a more diverse set of habitats than what drives the habitat selection at the home range level. However, some basic criteria, like the amount of food at the home range level, must first be fulfilled.

The number of moose damage did not show any abrupt changes in relation to the habitat composition of landscapes at any scales studied. At least for the two smallest scales that refer to the approximate home range level ( $25 \text{ km}^2$ ) and within home range level ( $1 \text{ km}^2$ ), two explanations are plausible. First, it is possible that intensive forestry with relatively small treatment units has homogenized landscapes, and there is no significant variation in

terms of, e.g., patch size at the home range level and at larger scales. Empirical studies from Finnish forest landscapes have shown that the patch size of canopy-cover habitats is strongly skewed towards small patch sizes of 1-2 ha, and the differences in e.g. average patch size start to level off at the radii of 1-2 km (Löfman and Kouki 2003). However, edge density has been found to remain the same independent of the scale studied (Löfman and Kouki 2003). From the point of view of moose, landscapes thus show up fine-grained with abundant food resources in terms of plantations but also in terms of cover. Because the selection criteria regarding food-cover distances are rather similar among plantations, browsing does not concentrate on certain plantations more than others, but is more or less even among plantations.

Another plausible explanation is that because moose are not territorial, the density of moose can be locally substantial, and, at least in high moose density areas, browsing leads to depletion of food resources. Depletion, again, leads to shift in habitat use (Van Beest et al. 2010), and as a consequence of several shifts, to more or less even use of resources within home ranges.

## 5.3. Plantation and plant level

The results at the smallest level of selection, i.e., plant and plant communities, confirm the findings of earlier studies that moose browsing increases as the amount of food increases. In particular, overtopping deciduous trees in the immediate vicinity of pines increase the risk for pines to become browsed. Because a similar effect was not found for the total amount of deciduous trees at the whole plantation level, the results suggest that cleaning deciduous trees around the immediate surrounding of pines should be an adequate way to reduce browsing risk for single pines.

In general, pine plantations growing over nutrient-rich bedrock and fine-grained soils become browsed more frequently than plantations growing on nutrient-poor bedrocks and on more coarse-grained soils. More damage was also found on sites with heavy mechanical soil preparation. Soil preparation could just be a proxy for soil properties, and not the proximate reason for having more damage in heavy MSP sites. On the other hand the mineralization of nutrients is enhanced by heavy MSP, which might result in better palatability of plants in these sites. Another plausible explanation is that the availability of nutrients changes in the course of time and becomes imbalanced for trees, increasing the palatability. So far, the underlying mechanisms are not well known and remain to be assessed in future studies. From the browsing risk point of view, however, the result appears to be the same.

It is also plausible to consider, but could not be analysed in more detail from the data at hand, that if moose learn that the food gain is not better in surrounding plantations than in the present one, due to depletion of food, the properties of the plantation become less important. Therefore, at least in the most browsed areas, e.g., cleaning the plantation from deciduous trees does not necessarily lower the attractiveness of the plantation, but leads to the browsing of pines because of the lack of browsable resources in surrounding plantations. If this holds true, it is beneficial to leave deciduous trees to plantations or to have a denser plantation in general because the proportion of browsed biomass decreases in relation to increased biomass. As a consequence, relatively more trees will be saved from browsing.

At least in high moose density areas the degree of damage in a single plantation might thus be a result of a process, where it is not profitable for moose to move to surrounding plantations, but, instead, the same food gain is acquired even if the browsable food in the plantation is quantitatively and qualitatively non-optimal. This leads to variation in the damage degree but, also to confusing results about the effect of plantation characteristics to damage risk.

## 6. FUTURE PROSPECTS

Satellite image-based land use and cover classification is not very accurate at the level of single pixels and small areas (Tokola and Heikkilä 1997). In particular, the precision of the classes, i.e., how detailed the information is that they provide, about the structural characteristics of forests and other habitats, is rather low. Novel remote sensing techniques, like airborne laser scanning (ALS) (Packalén and Maltamo 2007), provide more detailed data of trees and other vegetation than satellite data used in this study (**II-III**). ALS data have been shown to explain the habitat selection of moose at small spatio-temporal scales (Melin et al. 2013), which gives promise that new data might be valuable for studying some questions that remained correlative in this thesis further. In particular, studies of the effect of different kinds of mosaics comprising plantations and other types of forests and peatlands on the behaviour of moose under varying environmental conditions, like snow depth, would give new insights to, e.g., damage risk. However, accurate moose location data with detailed habitat data should be accompanied by actual resource use data (Owen-Smith et al. 2010), like the use of different food items, to gain more insight into mechanisms underlying moose habitat use and resource selection.

Technologies like Geographic Information Systems, the internet and the availability of the ever-growing and qualitatively more precise environmental data, provide, in principle, tools to link information together from different sources and to combine the data for moose management purposes or damage risk assessment. As an example, bedrock-soil composition is, in practise, permanent property of the stand and serves as a starting point for the damage risk assessment pretty much as such. On the other hand, forested habitat types of different tree species also drive the habitat selection of moose at home range and within-home range levels. This gives promise that by analysing these factors together with the state-of-the-art modelling techniques, it is possible to assess moose damage risk at scales down to the level of plantation. The resulting damage risk models can further be presented in digital maps and be updated along with updated forest data, and utilized in, e.g., forest planning.

Finally, in spite of the technological development and the increasing availability of accurate data, scientifically rigorous research that assesses various questions related to, e.g., resource selection remains as an indispensable starting point to acquire information for also applied purposes.

## References

- Aebischer, N.J., Robertson, P.A., Kenward, R.E. (1993). Compositional analysis of habitat use from animal radio-tracking data. Ecology 74: 1313-1325. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940062
- Ahlén, I. (1975). Winter habitats of moose and deer in relation to land use in Scandinavia. Viltrevy 9: 45-192.
- Ahti, T., Hämet-Ahti, L., Jalas, J. (1968). Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. Annales Botanici Fennici 5: 169-211.
- Aitchison, J. (1982). The statistical analysis of compositional data. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological) 44: 139-177.
- Allen, T.F.H., O'Neill, R.V., Hoekstra, T.W. (1987). Interlevel relations in ecological research and management: some working principles from hierarchy theory. Journal of Applied Systems Analysis 14: 63-79.
- Allison, P.D. (1999). Logistic regression using the SAS system: theory and application. Series Logistic Regression Using SAS System: Theory and Application. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC. 288 p. ISBN-13: 978-0471221753
- Ball, J.P., Dahlgren, J. (2002). Browsing damage on pine (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. contorta*) by a migrating moose (*Alces alces*) population in winter: relation to habitat composition and road barriers. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 17: 427-435. https://doi.org/10.1080/028275802320435441
- Ball, J.P., Danell, K., Sunesson, P. (2000). Response of a herbivory community to increased food quality and quantity: an experiment with nitrogen fertilizer in a boreal forest. Journal of Applied Ecology 37: 247-255. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2000.00487.x
- Ball, J.P., Nordengren, C., Wallin, K. (2001). Partial migration by large ungulates: characteristics of seasonal moose *Alces alces* ranges in northern Sweden. Wildlife Biology 7: 39-47.
- Barbosa, P., Hines, J., Kaplan, I., Martinson, H., Szczepaniec, A., Szendrei, Z. (2009) Associational resistance and associational susceptibility: Having right or wrong neighbors. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40: 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120242
- Belovsky, G.E. (1978). Diet optimatization in a generalist herbivore: the moose. Journal of Theoretical Population Biology 14: 105-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(78)90007-2

- Belovsky, G.E. (1981a). Optimal Activity Times and Habitat Choice of Moose. Oecologia 48: 22-30. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00346984
- Belovsky, G.E. (1981b) Food plant selection by a generalist herbivore: the moose. Ecology 62: 1020-1030. https://doi.org/10.2307/1937001
- Bergqvist, G., Bergström, R., Edenius, L. (2001). Patterns of Stem Damage by Moose (Alces alces) in Young Pinus sylvestris Stands in Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16: 363-370. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580119307
- Bergqvist, G., Bergström, R., Edenius, L. (2003). Effects of moose (Alces alces) rebrowsing on damage development in young stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris). Forest Ecology and Management 176: 397-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00288-8
- Bergqvist, G., Bergström, R., Wallgren, M. (2012). Browsing by large herbivores on Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seedlings in mixture with ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) or silver birch (*Betula pendula*). Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 27: 372-378. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2011.635155
- Bergqvist, G., Bergström, R., Wallgren, M. (2013). Summer browsing by moose on Scots pine. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 28: 110-116. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2012.725767
- Bergqvist, G., Bergstrom, R., Wallgren, M. (2014). Recent browsing damage by moose on Scots pine, birch and aspen in young commercial forests - effects of forage availability, moose population density and site productivity. Silva Fennica 48. 13 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1077
- Bergström, R., Hjeljord, O. (1987). Moose and vegetation interactions in northwestern Europe and Poland. Swedish Wildlife Research Supplement 1, Part 1: 213-228.
- Bjørneraas, K., Solberg, E.J., Herfindal, I., Moorter, B.V., Rolandsen, C.M., Tremblay, J., Skarpe, C., Sæther, B.-E., Astrup, R. (2011). Moose *Alces alces* habitat use at multiple temporal scales in a human-altered landscape. Wildlife Biology 17: 44-54. https://doi.org/10.2981/10-073
- Bø, S., Hjeljord, O. (1991). Do continental moose ranges improve during cloudy summers? Canadian Journal of Zoology 69: 1875-1879. https://doi.org/10.1139/z91-260
- Bryant, J.P., Chapin, F.S.I., Klein, D.R. (1983). Carbon/nutrient balance of boreal plants in relation to vertebrate herbivory. Oikos 40: 357-368. https://doi.org/10.2307/3544308
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R. (2002). Model selection and multimodel inference A practical information-theoretic approach. Second edition. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc. 488 p.

- Burt, W.H. (1943). Territoriality and home range concepts as applied to mammals. Journal of Mammalogy 24: 346-352. https://doi.org/10.2307/1374834
- Campbell, J.B. (2002). Introduction to Remote Sensing. The Guilford Press, New York. 621 p.
- Cassing, G., Greenberg, L.A., Mikusiñski, G. (2006). Moose (*Alces alces*) browsing in young forest stands in central Sweden: A multiscale perspective. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 21: 221-230. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580600673535
- Cederlund, G. (1989). Activity patterns in moose and roes deer in a north boreal forest. Holarctic Ecology 12: 39-45.
- Cederlund, G., Bergström, R. (1996). Trends in the moose-forest system in Fennoscandia with special reference to Sweden. In: Conservation of Faunal Diversity in Forested Landscapes. Chapman & Hall. Pp. 265-281. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-1521-3\_10
- Cederlund, G., Ljungqvist, H., Markgren, G., Ståhlfelt, F. (1980). Foods of moose and roe deer at Grimsö in central Sweden. Results of rumen content analyses. Swedish Wildlife Research Viltrevy 11: 169-247.
- Cederlund, G., Markgren, G. (1987). The development of the Swedish moose population, 1970-1983. Swedish Wildlife Research Supplement 1, Part 1: 55-62.
- Cederlund, G., Okarma, H. (1988). Home range and habitat use of adult female moose. Journal of Wildlife Management 52: 336-343. https://doi.org/10.2307/3801246
- Cederlund, G., Sand, H. (1994). Home-Range size in relation to age and sex in moose. Journal of Mammalogy 75: 1005-1012. https://doi.org/10.2307/1382483
- Cederlund, G., Sandegren, F., Larsson, K. (1987). Summer movements of female moose and dispersal of their offspring. Journal of Wildlife Management 51: 342-352. https://doi.org/10.2307/3801014
- Charnov, E.L. (1976). Optimal Foraging, the Marginal Value Theorem. Theoretical Population Biology 9: 129-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(76)90040-X
- Coady, J.W. (1974). Influence of snow on behaviour of moose. Naturaliste Canadien 101: 417-436.
- Danell, K., Edenius, L., Lundberg, P. (1991). Herbivory and tree stand composition: moose patch use in winter. Ecology 72: 1350-1357. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941107
- Danell, K., Niemelä, P., Varvikko, T., Vuorisalo, T. (1991). Moose browsing on Scots pine along a gradient of plant productivity. Ecology 72: 1624-1633. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940962

- Dennis, R.L.H., Shreeve, T.G., Van Dyck, H. (2003). Towards a functional resource-based concept for habitat: a butterfly biology viewpoint. Oikos 102: 417-426. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0579.2003.12492.x
- Dingle, H., Drake, V.A. (2007). What Is Migration? Bioscience 57: 113-121. https://doi.org/10.1641/B570206
- Dixon, K.R., Chapman, J.A. (1980). Harmonic mean measure of animal activity areas. Ecology 61: 1040-1047. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936821
- Dormann, C.F., McPherson, J.M., Araújo, M.B., Bivand, R., Bolliger, J., Carl, G., Davies, R.G., Hirzel, A., Jetz, W., Kissling, W.D., Kühn, I., Ohlemüller, R., Peres-Neto, P.R., Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Schurr, F.M., Wilson, R. (2007). Methods to account for spatial autocorrelation in the analysis of species distributional data: a review. Ecography 30: 609-628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0906-7590.05171.x
- Edenius, L. (1991). The effect of resource depletion on the feeding behaviour of a browser: winter foraging by moose on Scots pine. Journal of Applied Ecology 28: 318-328. https://doi.org/10.2307/2404132
- Edenius, L. (1993). Browsing by moose on Scots pine in relation to plant resource availability. Ecology 74: 2261-2269. https://doi.org/10.2307/1939579
- Edenius, L., Bergman, M., Ericsson, G., Danell, K. (2002). The role of moose as a disturbance factor in managed boreal forests. Silva Fennica 36: 57-67. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.550
- Ehrström, F. (1888). Elgen som skadedjur å den unga tallskogen. Finska Forstföreningens Meddelanden Sjette Bandet: 140-146.
- Faber, W.E., Pehrson, Å. (2000). Foraging on Norway spruce and its potential association with a wasting syndrome in moose in Sweden. Alces 36: 17-34.
- Finlex (2014). Legislation of Finland: Game Animal Damages Act. http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/kaannokset/2009/en20090105.pdf [Cited 1 Dec 2014].
- Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry (2011). Metsäntutkimuslaitos, Vantaan toimipaikka, Vammalan kirjapaino Oy, Sastamala. 496 p. ISBN 978-951-40-2330-9 (PDF)
- Finnish Transport Agency (2014). Hirvieläinonnettomuudet maanteillä 2013. (English summary: Elk and deer accidents on highways in 2013). Research reports of the Finnish Transport Agency 6/2014. 23 p.
- Forman, R.T.T. (1997). Land mosaics. The ecology of landscapes and regions. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge. 632 p. ISBN 0 521 47980 0

- Freeland, W.J., Janzen, D.H. (1974). Strategies in herbivory by mammals: the role of plant secondary compounds. American Naturalist 108: 269-289. https://doi.org/10.1086/282907
- Frid, A., Dill, L.M. (2002). Human-caused Disturbance Stimuli as a Form of Predation Risk. Ecology and Society 6. 16 p. http://www.consecol.org/vol6/iss1/art11/ [Cited 15 Nov 2016].
- Gray, P.A., Cameron, D., Kirkham, I. (1996). Wildlife habitat evaluation in forested ecosystems: some examples from Canada and the United States. In: Conservation of Faunal Diversity in Forested Landscapes. Chapman & Hall, London. Pp. 407-536. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-1521-3\_14
- Hall, L.S., Krausman, P.R., Morrison, M.L. (1997). The habitat concept and a plea for standard terminology. Wildlife Society Bulletin 25: 173-182.
- Hallikainen, V., Hyppönen, M., Jalkanen, R., Mäkitalo, K. (2004). Metsänviljelyn onnistuminen Lapin yksityismetsissä vuosina 1984–1995. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja I/2004: 3-20.
- Häme, T. (1984a). Landsat-aided forest site type mapping. Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing 50: 1175-1183.
- Häme, T. (1984b). Interpretation of deciduous trees and shrubs in conifer seedling stands from Landsat imagery. Photogrammetric Journal of Finland 9(2): 209-217.
- Härkönen, S. (1998). Effects of silvicultural cleaning in mixed pine-deciduous stands on moose damage to scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 13: 429-436. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589809383003
- Härkönen, S., Heikkilä, R., Faber, W.E., Pehrson, Å. (1998). The influence of silvicultural cleaning on moose browsing in Scots pine stands in Finland. Alces 34: 409-422.
- Härkönen, S., Miina, J., Saksa, T. (2008). Effect of cleaning methods in mixed pinedeciduous stands on moose damage to Scots pines in southern Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 23: 491-500. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580802491371
- Harris, S., Cresswell, W.J., Forde, P.G., Trewhella, W.J., Woollard, T., Wray, S. (1990). Home range analysis using radio-tracking data - a review of problems and techniques particularily as applied to the study of mammals. Mammal Review 20: 97-123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2907.1990.tb00106.x
- Heikkilä, R. (1990). Effect of plantation characteristics on moose browsing on Scots pine. Tiivistelmä: Männyntaimikon ominaisuuksien vaikutus hirvituhoalttiuteen. Silva Fennica 24: 341-351. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a15588
- Heikkilä, R. (1991). Moose browsing in a Scots pine plantation mixed with deciduous tree species. Acta Forestalia Fennica 224: 13 p.

- Heikkilä, R., Härkönen, S. (1993). Moose (*Alces alces L.*) browsing in young Scots pine stands in relation to the characteristics of their winter habitats. Silva Fennica 27: 127-143. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a15667
- Heikkilä, R., Härkönen, S. (1996). Moose browsing in young Scots pine stands in relation to forest management. Forest Ecology and Management 88: 179-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(96)03823-6
- Heikkilä, R., Mikkonen, T. (1992). Effects of density of young Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) stand on moose (*Alces alces*) browsing. Acta Forestalia Fennica 231: 1-14.
- Heikkilä, R., Nygrén, K., Härkönen, S., Mykkänen, A. (1996). Characteristics of habitats used by a female moose in the managed forest area. Acta Theriologica 41: 321-326. https://doi.org/10.4098/AT.arch.96-30
- Heikkinen, S. (2000). Hirven vuosi. Summary: The year of the moose. Suomen Riista 46: 82-91.
- Helle, P., Nikula, A. (1995). Wildlife-wilderness relationships in northern forest landscapes: an integrative use of wildlife census and forest resources data. Arctic Centre Publications 7: 27-43.
- Helle, P., Nikula, A. (1996). Usage of geographic information systems (GIS) in analysis of wildlife triangle data. Finnish Game Research 49: 26-36.
- Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö (1960). Hirvivahinkokomitean mietintö. Summary: Report of committee on damage by moose. Silva Fennica 106. 57 p.
- Hjältén, J., Danell, K., Lundberg, P. (1993). Herbivore avoidance by association: Vole and Hare utilization of woody plants. Oikos 68: 125-131. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545317
- Hjeljord, O., Hövik, N., Pedersen, H.B. (1990). Choice of feeding sites by moose during summer, the influence of forest structure and plant phenology. Holarctic Ecology 13: 281-292. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1990.tb00620.x
- Holling, C.S. (1959). The Components of Predation as Revealed by a Study of Small-Mammal Predation of the European Pine Sawfly. The Canadian Entomologist 91: 293-320. https://doi.org/10.4039/Ent91293-5
- Hörnberg, S. (2001a). The relationship between moose (*Alces alces*) browsing utilisation and the occurrence of different forage species in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 149: 91-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00547-8
- Hörnberg, S. (2001b). Changes in population density of moose (*Alces alces*) and damage to forests in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 149: 141-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00551-X

- Hyvönen, E., Jakonen, M., Kupila, J., Lerssi, J., Leskinen, J., Liwata, P., Nevalainen, R., Putkinen, S., Virkki, H., Väänänen, T. (2007). Maaperän yleiskartan tulkinta- ja kartoitusprosessi. Geologian tutkimuskeskus. 130 p.
- Iverson, L., Graham, R.L., Cook, E.A. (1989). Applications of satellite remote sensing to forested ecosystems. Landscape Ecology 3: 131-143. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00131175
- Jaakkola, S., Poso, S., Skråmo, G. (1988). Satellite remote sensing for forest inventory experiences in the Nordic countries. Scandanavian Journal of Forest Research 3: 545-567. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827588809382539
- Jalkanen, A. (2001). The probability of moose damage at the stand level in southern Finland. Silva Fennica 35: 159-168. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.593
- Johnson, D.H. (1980). The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61: 65-71. https://doi.org/10.2307/1937156
- Johnson, L.B. (1990). Analyzing spatial and temporal phenomena using geographical information systems. Landscape Ecology 4: 31-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02573949
- Kalliola, R. (1973). Suomen kasvimaantiede. Werner Söderström Osakeyhtiö, Porvoo, Helsinki. 308 p.
- Kalliola, R., Syrjänen, K. (1991). To what extent are vegetation types visible in satellite imagery? Annales Botanici Fennici 28: 45-57.
- Kangas, E. (1949). Hirven metsässä aikaansaamat tuhot ja niiden metsätaloudellinen merkitys. Suomen Riista 4: 62-90.
- Kelsall, J.P. (1969). Structural adaptations of moose and deer for snow. Journal of Mammalogy 50: 302-310. https://doi.org/10.2307/1378347
- Koljonen, T. (1992a). Geochemical evolution of the Earth. In: The Geochemical Atlas of Finland, Part 2: Till. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo. Pp. 29-39.
- Koljonen, T. (1992b). Bedrock. In: The geochemical atlas of Finland, Part 2: Till. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo. Pp. 51-60.
- Koljonen, T., Tanskanen, H. (1992). Quaternary Sediments. In: The geochemical atlas of Finland, part 2: Till. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo. Pp. 44-50.
- Korhonen, K.T., Ihalainen, A., Miina, J., Saksa, T., Viiri, H. (2010). Metsänuudistamisen tila Suomessa VMI10:n aineistojen perusteella. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 4/2010: 425-478.

- Kotliar, N.B., Wiens, J.A. (1990). Multiple scales of patchiness and patch structure: a hierarchical framework for the study of heterogeneity. Oikos 59: 253-260. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545542
- Kullberg, Y., Bergström, R. (2001). Winter browsing by large herbivores on planted deciduous seedlings in Southern Sweden. Scandanavian Journal of Forest Research 16: 371-378. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580117385
- Kurki, S. (1997). Spatial variation in the breeding success of forest grouse: the role of predation in fragmented boreal landscapes. Dissertation. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Ser. A II. Tom. 102. 24 p. + 5 articles.
- Kuusela, K., Poso, S. (1975). Demonstration of the applicability of satellite data to forestry. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 83: 1-31.
- Lavsund, S. (1987). Moose relationships to forestry in Finland, Norway and Sweden. Swedish Wildlife Research, Supplement 1, Part 1: 229-244.
- Lawson, E.J.G., Rodgers, A.R. (1997). Differences in Home-Range Size Computed in Commonly Used Software Programs. Wildlife Society Bulletins 25: 721-729.
- LeResche, R.E. (1974). Moose migrations in North America. Naturaliste Canadien 101: 393-415.
- Levin, S.A. (1992). The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73: 1943-1967. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941447
- Lindén, H., Helle, E., Helle, P., Wikman, M. (1996). Wildlife triangle scheme in Finland: methods and aims for monitoring wildlife populations. Finnish Game Research 49: 4-11.
- Lindroos, E. (2003). Maaperä. Maaperä. [Soil]. In: Mälkönen E. (ed.). Metsämaa ja sen hoito. [Forest soil and its treatment]. Kustannusosakeyhtiö Metsälehti, Hämeenlinna. P. 7–38. ISBN-13: 9789525118575.
- Longley, P., Goodchild, M.F., Maguire, D.J., Rhind, D.W. (2001). Geographic Information Systems and Science. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 536 p. ISBN 0-471-89275-0.
- Löfman, S., Kouki, J. (2003). Scale and dynamics of a transforming forest landscape. Forest Ecology and Management 175: 247-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00133-0
- Löyttyniemi, K. (1981). Typpilannoituksen ja neulasten ravinnepitoisuuksien vaikutus hirvien mäntyravinnon valintaan. Summary: Nitrogen fertilization and nutrient contents in Scots pine in relation to the browsing preference by moose (*Alces alces*). Folia Forestalia 487: 14 p.

- Löyttyniemi, K. (1982). Männyntaimikkojen hirvivahingot 1950-luvun alussa. Summary: Moose (*Alces alces*) damage in young pine stands in Finland at the beginning of the 1950s. Folia Forestalia 503: 8 p.
- Löyttyniemi, K. (1985). On repeated browsing of Scots pine sapling by moose (Alces alces). Silva Fennica 19: 387-391. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a15431
- Löyttyniemi, K., Lääperi, A. (1988). Hirvi ja metsätalous. Helsingin Yliopiston maatalousja metsäeläintieteen laitoksen julkaisuja. University of Helsinki. Department of Agricultural and Forest Zoology. Reports 13: 56 p.
- Lundberg, P., Åström, M., Danell, K. (1990). An experimental test of frequency-dependent food selection: winter browsing by moose. Holarctic Ecology 13: 177-182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1990.tb00605.x
- Lundmark, C., Ball, J.P. (2008). Living in Snowy Environments: Quantifying the Influence of Snow on Moose Behavior. Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine Research 40: 111-118. https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(06-103)[LUNDMARK]2.0.CO;2
- Lykkja, O.N., Solberg, E.J., Herfindal, I., Wright, J., Rolandsen, C.M., Hanssen, M.G. (2009). The effects of human activity on summer habitat use by moose. Alces 45: 109-124.
- Lyly, O., Saksa, T. (1992). The effect of stand density on moose damage in young *Pinus sylvestris* stands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 7: 393-403. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589209382732
- Mäkitalo, K. (1999). Effect of site preparation and reforestation method on survival and height growth of Scots pine. Scandanavian Journal of Forest Research 14: 512-525. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589908540816
- Manly, B. (1997). Randomization, Bootstrap and Monte Carlo Methdos in Biology. Second Edition ed. Chapman & Hall, London. 399 p. ISBN 0 412 72130 9.
- Månsson, J. (2009). Environmental variation and moose Alces alces density as determinants of spatio-temporal heterogeneity in browsing. Ecography 32: 601-612. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2009.05713.x
- Månsson, J., Kalén, C., Kjellander, P., Andrén, H., Smith, H. (2007). Quantitative estimates of tree species selectivity by moose (*Alces alces*) in a forest landscape. Scandanavian Journal of Forest Research 22: 407-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580701515023
- Månsson, J., Bergström, R., Danell, K. (2009). Fertilization Effects on deciduous tree growth and browsing by moose. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 2450-2455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.08.025
- Martin, T.G., Wintle, B.A., Rhodes, J.R., Kuhnert, P.M., Field, S.A., Low-Choy, S.J., Tyre, A.J., Possingham, H.P. (2005). Zero tolerance ecology: improving ecological inference

by modelling the source of zero observations. Ecology Letters 8: 1235-1246. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00826.x

- McCullagh, P., Nelder, J.A. (1989). Generalized Linear Models. 2nd ed. Chapman and Hall, London. 511 p. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-3242-6
- Melin, M., Packalén, P., Matala, J., Mehtätalo, L., Pusenius, J. (2013). Assessing and modeling moose (*Alces alces*) habitats with airborne laser scanning data. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation 23: 389-396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2012.11.004
- Milligan, H.T., Koricheva, J. (2013). Effects of tree species richness and composition on moose winter browsing damage and foraging selectivity: an experimental study. Journal of Animal Ecology 82: 739-748. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12049
- Mönkkönen, M., Reunanen, P., Nikula, A., Inkeröinen, J., Forsman, J. (1997). Landscape characteristics associated with the occurrence of the flying squirrel *Pteromys volans* in old-growth forests of northern Finland. Ecography 20: 634-642. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1997.tb00432.x
- Morrison, M.M., Hall, L.S. (2002). Standard terminology: Toward a common language to advance ecological understanding and application. In: J.M. Scott et al. (Ed.) Predicting Species Occurrences. Issues of Accuracy and Scale. Island Press, Washington. P. 43-52. ISBN 1-55963-878-0.
- Naveh, Z., Lieberman, A.S. (1984). Landscape Ecology: Theory and applications. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.
- Neumann, W., Ericsson, G., Dettki, H., Radeloff, V.C. (2013). Behavioural response to infrastructure of wildlife adapted to natural disturbances. Landscape and Urban Planning 114: 9-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2013.02.002
- Niemelä, P., Danell, K. (1988). Comparison of moose browsing on Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and lodge pole pine (*Pinus contorta*). Journal of Applied Ecology 25: 761-775. https://doi.org/10.2307/2403744
- Nygrén, T. (1987). The history of moose in Finland. Swedish Wildlife Research Supplement 1, Part 1: 49-54.
- Nygrén, T. (2009). Suomen hirvikannan säätely biologiaa ja luonnonvarapolitiikkaa. [Biology and policies in Finnish moose population regulation and management]. University of Joensuu, PhD Dissertations in Biology 64. 227 p.
- Nygrén, T., Pesonen, M. (1993). The moose population (*Alces alces L.*) and methods of moose management in Finland, 1975-89. Finnish Game Research 48: 46-53.
- O'Neill, R.V., Johnson, A.R., King, A.W. (1989). A hierarchical framework for the analysis of scale. Landscape Ecology 3: 193-205. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00131538

- Ojala, A.E.K., Palmu, J.-P., Åberg, A., Åberg, S., Virkki, H. (2013). Development of an ancient shoreline database to reconstruct the Litorina Sea maximum extension and the highest shoreline of the Baltic Sea basin in Finland. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Finland 85: 127-144.
- Olsson, M., Cox, J.J., Larkin, J.L., Widén, P., Olovsson, A. (2011). Space and habitat use of moose in southwestern Sweden. European Journal of Wildlife Research 57: 241-249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-010-0418-5
- Østgård, J. (1987). Status of moose in Norway in the 1970's and early 1980's. Swedish Wildlife Research Supplement 1, Part 1: 63-68.
- Owen-Smith, N., Fryxell, J.M., Merrill, E.H. (2010). Foraging theory upscaled: the behavioural ecology of herbivore movement. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365: 2267-2278. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0095
- Packalén, P., Maltamo, M. (2007). The k-MSN method for the prediction of speciesspecific stand attributes using airborne laser scanning and aerial photographs. Remote Sensing of Environment 109: 328-341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.01.005
- Peek, J.M., LeResche, R.E., Stevens, D.R. (1974). Dynamics of moose aggregations in Alaska, Minnesota and Montana. Journal of Mammalogy 55: 126-137. https://doi.org/10.2307/1379262
- Phelan, P.L., Norris, K.H., Mason, J.F. (1996). Soil management history and host preference by Ostrinia nubillis: evidence for plant mineral balance mediating insectplant interaction. Environmental Entomology 25: 1329-1336. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/25.6.1329
- Pirinen, P., Simola, H., Aalto, J., Kaukoranta, J.-P., Karlsson, P., Ruuhela, R. (2012). Tilastoja Suomen ilmastosta 1981-2010. Climatological statistics of Finland 1981-2010. Finnish Meteorological Institute, Reports 2012:1. 96 p.
- Pyke, G.H., Pulliam, H.R., Charnov, E.L. (1977). Optimal Foraging: A Selective Review of Theory and Tests. The Quarterly Review of Biology 52: 137-154. https://doi.org/10.1086/409852
- Repo, S., Löyttyniemi, K. (1985). Lähiympäristön vaikutus männyn viljelytaimikon hirvituhoalttiuteen. Summary: The effect of immediate environment on moose (*Alces alces*) damage in young Scots pine plantations. Folia Forestalia 626: 14 p.
- Sandegren, F., Bergström, R., Cederlund, G., Dansie, E. (1982). Spring migration of female moose in central Sweden. Alces 18: 210-234.
- Sandegren, F., Bergström, R., Sweanor, P.Y. (1985). Seasonal moose migration related to snow in Sweden. Alces 21: 321-338.

- Sarala, P., Rossi, S. (2006). Rovaniemen Tervolan alueen glasiaalimorfologiset ja stratigrafiset tutkimukset ja niiden soveltaminen geokemialliseen malminetsintään. Summary: Glacial geological and stratigraphical studies with applied geochemical exploration in the area of Rovaniemi and Tervola, southern Finnish Lapland. Geological Survey of Finland, Report of Investigation 161: 1-115.
- Schneider, D.C. (2001). The Rise of the Concept of Scale in Ecology: The concept of scale is evolving from verbal expression to quantitative expression. Bioscience 51: 545-553. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0545:TROTCO]2.0.CO;2
- Searle, K.R., Hobbs, N.T., Shipley, L.A. (2005). Should I Stay or Should I Go? Patch Departure Decisions by Herbivores at Multiple Scales. Oikos 111: 417-424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13918.x
- Senft, R.L., Coughenour, M.B., Bailey, D.W., Rittenhouse, L.R., Sala, O.E., Swift, D.M. (1987). Large Herbivore Foraging and Ecological Hierarchies. Bioscience 37: 789-795+798-799.
- Shipley, L.A., Spalinger, D.E. (1995). Influence of Size and Density of Browse Patches on Intake Rates and Foraging Decisions of Young Moose and White-Tailed Deer. Oecologia 104: 112-121. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00365569
- Shipley, L.A. (2010). Fifty years of food and foraging in moose: Lessons in ecology from a model herbivore. Alces 46: 1-13.
- Siipilehto, J., Heikkilä, R. (2005). The effect of moose browsing on the height structure of Scots pine saplings in a mixed stand. Forest Ecology and Management 205: 117-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.10.051
- Spalinger, D.E., Hobbs, T.N. (1992). Mechanisms of foraging in mammalian herbivores: new models of functional response. The American Naturalist 140: 325-348. https://doi.org/10.1086/285415
- Star, J., Estes, J. (1990). Geographic Information Systems. An Introduction. Prentice Hall. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. 303 p. ISBN 0-13-351123-5.
- Steinberg, D., Colla, P. (2004). Logistic regression. In: SYSTAT 11. Statistics II. In: SYSTAT Software Inc., Richmond. P. 207-278.
- Stolter, C., Ball, J.P., Niemelä, P., Julkunen-Tiitto, R. (2010). Herbivores and the variation in the composition of specific phenolics of boreal coniferous trees; a search for patterns. Chemoecology 20: 229-242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00049-010-0053-3
- Sutinen, R., Teirilä, A., Pänttäjä, M., Sutinen, M.-L. (2002). Survival of artificially regenerated Scots pine on till soils with respect to varying dielectric properties. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32: 1151-1157. https://doi.org/10.1139/x02-012

- Sutinen, R., Kuoppamaa, M., Hyvönen, E., Hänninen, P., Middleton, M., Pänttäjä, M., Teirilä, A.,Sutinen, M.-L. (2007). Geological controls on conifer distributions and their implications for forest management in Finnish Lapland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 22: 476-487. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580701672063
- Sutinen, R., Kuoppamaa, M., Hänninen, P., Middleton, M., Närhi, P., Vartiainen, S., Sutinen, M.-L. (2011). Tree species distribution on mafic and felsic fells in Finnish Lapland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 26: 11-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.534109
- Sweanor, P.Y., Sandegren, F. (1988). Migratory Behavior of Related Moose. Holarctic Ecology 11: 190-193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1988.tb00800.x
- Sweanor, P.Y., Sandegren, F. (1989). Winter-range philopatry of seasonally migratory moose. Journal of Applied Ecology 26: 25-33. https://doi.org/10.2307/2403648
- Swedish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry (2013). Skogsstyrelsen. Swedish Forest Agency. 374 p. ISBN 978-91-87535-01-7.
- Thomas, D.L., Taylor, E.J. (2006). Study Designs and Tests for Comparing Resource Use and Availability II. The Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 324-336. https://doi.org/10.2193/0022-541X(2006)70[324:SDATFC]2.0.CO;2
- Tokola, T., Heikkilä, J. (1997). Improving satellite image based forest inventory by using a priori site quality information. Silva Fennica 31: 67-78. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a8511
- Tomppo, E. 1991. Satellite image-based National Forest Inventory of Finland. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on Global and Environmental Monitoring, Techniques and Impacts. September 17-21, 1990, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada. International Archives of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing 28: 419-424.
- Tomppo, E., Joensuu, J. (2003). Hirvieläinten aiheuttamat metsätuhot Etelä-Suomessa Valtakunnan metsien 8. ja 9. inventoinnin mukaan. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 4/2003: 507-535.
- Tomppo, E., Henttonen, H., Tuomainen, T. (2001). Valtakunnan metsien 8. inventoinnin menetelmä ja tulokset metsäkeskuksittain Pohjois-Suomessa 1992-94 sekä tulokset Etelä-Suomessa 1986-92 ja koko maassa 1986-94. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja IB/2001: 99-248.
- Tomppo, E., Olsson, H., Ståhl, G., Nilsson, M., Hagner, O., Katila, M. (2008). Combining national forest inventory field plots and remote sensing data for forest databases. Remote Sensing of Environment 112: 1982-1999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.03.032
- Turner, M.G., Dale, V.H., Gardner, R.H. (1989). Predicting across scales: Theory development and testing. Landscape Ecology 3: 245-252.

- Ukkonen, P. (1993). The post-glacial history of the Finnish mammalian fauna. Annales Zoologici Fennici 30: 249-264.
- Van Ballenberghe, V., Peek, J.M. (1971). Radiotelemetry studies of moose in northeastern Minnesota. Journal of Wildlife Management 35: 63-71. https://doi.org/10.2307/3799872
- Van Beest, F.M., Mysterud, A., Loe, L.E., Milner, J.M. (2010). Forage quantity, quality and depletion as scale-dependent mechanisms driving habitat selection of a large browsing herbivore. Journal of Animal Ecology 79: 910-922. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01701.x
- Van Beest, F.M., Rivrud, I.M., Loe, L.E., Milner, J.M., Mysterud, A. (2011). What determines variation in home range size across spatiotemporal scales in a large browsing herbivore? Journal of Animal Ecology 80: 771-785. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01829.x
- Venables, W.N., Ripley, B.D. (2002). Modern Applied Statistics with S. 4th ed. Springer. 495 p. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21706-2
- Virtanen, T., Neuvonen, S., Nikula, A., Varama, M., Niemelä, P. (1996). Climate change and the risks of *Neodiprion sertifer* outbreaks on Scots pine. Silva Fennica 30: 169-177. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.a9229
- Virtanen, T., Neuvonen, S., Nikula, A. (1998). Modelling topoclimatic patterns of egg mortality of *Epirrita autumnata* (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) with a Geographical Information System: predictions for current climate and warmer climate scenarios. Journal of Applied Ecology 35: 322. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.1998.00299.x
- Wallace, L.L., Turner, M.G., Romme, W.H., O'Neill, R.V., Wu, Y. (1995). Scale of heterogeneity of forage production and winter foraging by elk and bison. Landscape Ecology 10: 75-83. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00153825
- Wallgren, M., Bergquist, J., Bergström, R., Eriksson, S. (2014). Effects of timing, duration, and intensity of simulated browsing on Scots pine growth and stem quality. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 29: 734-746. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.960896
- Westman, H. (1958). Älgens skadegörelse på ungskogen. Kungliga Skogshögskolans Skrifter 28: 148 p.
- Westoby, M. (1974). An analysis of diet selection by large generalist herbivores. American Naturalist 108: 290-304. https://doi.org/10.1086/282908
- Wiens, J.A. (1989). Spatial scaling in ecology. Functional Ecology 3: 385-397. https://doi.org/10.2307/2389612

- Wiens, J.A. (1995). Landscape mosaics and ecological theory. In: Lennart Hansson, Lenore Fahrig and Gray Merriam (Eds.). Mosaic Landscapes and ecological processes. Chapman & Hall, London. Pp. 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-0717-4\_1
- Wiens, J.A., Stenseth, N.C., Van Horne, B., Ims, R.A. (1993). Ecological mechanisms and landscape ecology. Oikos 66: 369-380. https://doi.org/10.2307/3544931
- Zeileis, A., Kleiber, C., Jackman, S. (2008). Regression Models for Count Data in R. Journal of Statistical Software 27. 25 p. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v027.i08
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N.J., Saveliev, A.A., Smith, G.M. (2009). Mixed Effect Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Spring Science and Business Media, New York, NY. 574 p. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-87458-6